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New Zealand Equivalent to International Financial &tpg Standard 4Insurance
Contracts(NZ IFRS 4) is set out in paragraphs 1-45 and ApigesdA—-E. NZ IFRS 4 is
based on International Financial Reporting Standasurance Contracts (IFRS 4) (2004)
published by the International Accounting StandaBdsird (IASB). All the paragraphs
have equal authority. Paragraph$old type state the main principles. Terms defined in
Appendix A are initalics the first time they appear in the Standard. Deéing of other
terms are given in the Glossary. NZ IFRS 4 shouldelael in the context of its objective
and the 1ASB’s Basis for Conclusions on IFRS 4 dmal Nlew Zealand Equivalent to the
IASB Conceptual Framework for Financial ReportingNZ Frameworfl. NZ IAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimated Errors provides a basis for
selecting and applying accounting policies in theemce of explicit guidance.

Any additional material is shown with grey shadingheTparagraphs are denoted with
“NZ” and identify the types of entities to which tharagraphs apply.

This Standard uses the terminology adopted innat@nal Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) to describe the financial statements ahdratlements. NZ IAS Bresentation of
Financial Statementgas revised in 2007) paragraph 5 explains thatientother than
profit-oriented entities seeking to apply the Stnddmay need to amend the descriptions
used for particular line items in the financialtstaents and for the financial statements
themselves. For example, profit/loss may be reteto as surplus/deficit and capital or
share capital may be referred to as equity.
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Introduction to NZ IFRS 4

NZ IFRS 4 specifies the financial reporting for irmce contracts by any entity that issues
such contracts. NZ IFRS 4:

@)

(b)
(©

(d)

(e)

(f)

)

(h)

@)

applies to all insurance contracts, includiamsurance contracts, that an entity
issues and to reinsurance contracts that it harsept for specified contracts
covered by other New Zealand equivalents to IFRSSs;

prohibits provisions for possible claims undentracts that are not in existence at
the reporting date, such as catastrophe and eatiatigrovisions;

requires a test for the adequacy of recognisetirance liabilities and an
impairment test for reinsurance assets;

requires an insurer to keep insurance liabditin its statement of financial
position until they are discharged or cancelledgxgire, and to present insurance
liabilities without offsetting them against relatesinsurance assets;

permits an insurer to change its accountingcigsl for insurance contracts only
if, as a result, its financial statements presafdgrination that is more relevant
and no less reliable, or more reliable and noidelevant. In particular an insurer
cannot introduce any of the following practiceshailtgh it may continue using
accounting policies that involve them:

0] measuring insurance liabilities on an undisdedrbasis;

(i) measuring contractual rights to future investrhmanagement fees at an
amount that exceeds their fair value as impliedabgomparison with
current fees charged by other market participastsifnilar services;

(i) using non-uniform accounting policies for thasurance liabilities of
subsidiaries;

permits the introduction of an accounting pwlithat involves remeasuring
designated insurance liabilities consistently irchegeriod to reflect current
market interest rates (and, if the insurer so s)esther current estimates and
assumptions);

does not require an insurer to change its atdwoy policies for insurance
contracts to eliminate excessive prudence. HoweWean insurer already
measures its insurance contracts with sufficientd@nge, it should not introduce
additional prudence;

permits the reclassification of some or albficial assets as ‘at fair value through
profit or loss’ when an insurer changes its accognpolicies for insurance
liabilities;

clarifies that an insurer need not accountdierembedded derivative separately at
fair value if the embedded derivative meets theinitedn of an insurance
contract;
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0] requires an insurer to unbundle (ie accountssely for) deposit components of
some insurance contracts, to avoid the omissiomsséts and liabilities from its
statement of financial position;

(k) clarifies the applicability of the practice setimes known as ‘shadow accounting’;

0] permits an expanded presentation for insurasodracts acquired in a business
combination or portfolio transfer;

(m) addresses limited aspects of discretionaryigigation features contained in
insurance contracts or financial instruments; and

(n) requires disclosure to help users understaacihounts in the insurer’s financial
statements that arise from insurance contracts, evaduate the nature and
extent of risks arising from insurance contracts.

On adoption of NZ IFRS 4, an entity which is a lifsuner as defined in Appendix C shall
comply with the requirements of Appendix C and anitgntvhich issues insurance
contracts, other than life insurers as defined inpexmlix C, shall comply with the
requirements of Appendix D.

In adopting IFRS 4 for application as NZ IFRS 4itiddal paragraphs have been included to:

. specify that an entity which is a life insurer asired in Appendix C shall comply
with the requirements of Appendix C;

. specify that an entity which issues insurance cotdraother than life insurers as
defined in Appendix C, shall comply with the requients of Appendix D; and

. explain that compliance with Appendix Ofe Insurance Entitiesor Appendix D
Financial Reporting of Insurance Activitiesill result in simultaneous compliance
with this Standard and with IFRSldsurance Contracts

Profit-oriented entities, other than qualifying iéas applying any differential reporting

concessions, that comply with NZ IFRS 4 will simultangly be in compliance with

IFRS 4. Public benefit entities using the “NZ” pgraphs in the Standard that specifically
apply to public benefit entities may not simultangly be in compliance with IFRS 4.

Whether a public benefit entity will be in complignwith IFRS 4 will depend on whether
the “NZ” paragraphs provide additional guidance famblic benefit entities or contain

requirements that are inconsistent with the cormedppg IASB Standard and will be

applied by the public benefit entity.

Differential Reporting

Qualifying entities must comply with all the provie®in NZ IFRS 4.
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New

NZ IFRS 4

Zealand Equivalent to International

Financial Reporting Standard 4
Insurance Contracts (NZ IFRS 4)

Objective

1

Scope

The objective of this Standard is to specify financial reporting foinsurance
contractsby any entity that issues such contracts (desgribehis IFRS as an
insuren until the IASB completes the second phase of litgegt on insurance
contracts. In particular, this Standard requires:

(a) limited improvements to accounting by insufersnsurance contracts.

(b) disclosure that identifies and explains the ami® in an insurer’s financial
statements arising from insurance contracts ang@shekers of those
financial statements understand the amount, tinding uncertainty of
future cash flows from insurance contracts.

An entity shall apply this Standard to:

(@) insurance contracts (including reinsurance restg) that it issues and
reinsurance contracts that it holds.

(b) financial instruments that it issues with a ditionary participation
feature (see paragraph 35). NZ IFRSBiffancial Instruments: Disclosures
requires disclosure about financial instruments¢luiding financial
instruments that contain such features.

This Standard does not address other aspecixofiating by insurers, such as
accounting for financial assets held by insurerd famancial liabilities issued by
insurers (see NZ IAS 32Financial Instruments: PresentationNZ IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measuremant NZ IFRS 7), except in
the transitional provisions in paragraph 45.

An entity shall not apply this Standard to:

(a) product warranties issued directly by a mariufac, dealer or retailer (see
NZ IAS 18 Revenueand NZ IAS 37Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent AsseXs

(b) employers’ assets and liabilities under empdoyeenefit plans (see
NZ IAS 19 Employee Benefitand NZ IFRS ZShare-based Paymerand
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retirement benefit obligations reported by defibeaefit retirement plans
(see NZ IAS 26Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Blans

(c) contractual rights or contractual obligatiommatt are contingent on the
future use of, or right to use, a non-financiahmtéfor example, some
licence fees, royalties, contingent lease paymants similar items), as
well as a lessee’s residual value guarantee embeddadinance lease
(see NZ IAS 17Leases NZ IAS 18 Revenueand NZ IAS 38Intangible
Assets

(d) financial guarantee contracts unless the is$zr previously asserted
explicitly that it regards such contracts as ineaeacontracts and has used
accounting applicable to insurance contracts, iithvhase the issuer may
elect to apply either NZ IAS 39 and NZ IAS 32 or thisrflard to such
financial guarantee contracts. The issuer may ntiakieelection contract
by contract, but the election for each contradatréssocable.

(e) contingent consideration payable or receivabla business combination
(see NZ IFRS Business Combinatiops

)] direct insurance contractdhat the entity holds (ie direct insurance
contracts in which the entity is tip@licyholde). However, aedantshall
apply this Standard to reinsurance contracts thwadlds.

All Entities

NZ 4.1

NZ 4.2

NZ 4.3

An entity which is a life insurer as definedn Appendix C shall comply with
the requirements of Appendix C.

An entity which issues insurance contracts, tleer than life insurers as
defined in Appendix C, shall comply with the requirenents of Appendix D.

Compliance with Appendix Cife Insurance Entitie®r Appendix DFinancial
Reporting of Insurance Activitiesill result in simultaneous compliance with this
Standard and with IFRSIAsurance Contracts.

For ease of reference, this Standard describegrity that issues an insurance
contract as an insurer, whether or not the issuesgarded as an insurer for legal
Or supervisory purposes.

A reinsurance contract is a type of insuranceracht Accordingly, all references
in this Standard to insurance contracts also ajpiginsurance contracts.

Embedded derivatives

NZ IAS 39 requires an entity to separate some eddzederivatives from their
host contract, measure thenfait valueand include changes in their fair value in
profit or loss. NZIAS 39 applies to derivatives exdbed in an insurance
contract unless the embedded derivative is itselhaurance contract.
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As an exception to the requirement in NZ IAS 39jraurer need not separate,
and measure at fair value, a policyholder's optionsurrender an insurance
contract for a fixed amount (or for an amount baseda fixed amount and an
interest rate), even if the exercise price diffiecsn the carrying amount of the
hostinsurance liability However, the requirement in NZ IAS 39 does applg to
put option or cash surrender option embedded innaarance contract if the

surrender value varies in response to the changdiimancial variable (such as an
equity or commodity price or index), or a non-ficet variable that is not

specific to a party to the contract. Furthermahet requirement also applies if
the holder’s ability to exercise a put option osttaurrender option is triggered
by a change in such a variable (for example, aption that can be exercised if a
stock market index reaches a specified level).

Paragraph 8 applies equally to options to sueera financial instrument
containing a discretionary participation feature.

Unbundling of deposit components

Some insurance contracts contain both an insearaomponent and deposit
component In some cases, an insurer is required or parhtttunbundlethose
components:

(@) unbundling is required if both the following clitions are met:

0] the insurer can measure the deposit componiactufling any
embedded surrender options) separately (ie withouasidering
the insurance component).

(i) the insurer's accounting policies do not othise require it to
recognise all obligations and rights arising frohe tdeposit
component.

(b) unbundling is permitted, but not required, hie tinsurer can measure the
deposit component separately as in (a)(i) butdt®anting policies require
it to recognise all obligations and rights arisirgm the deposit component,
regardless of the basis used to measure those dgtitobligations.

(c) unbundling is prohibited if an insurer cannotasure the deposit
component separately as in (a)(i).

The following is an example of a case when anr@gr&iaccounting policies do
not require it to recognise all obligations arisiingm a deposit component. A
cedant receives compensation for losses frogirsurer, but the contract obliges
the cedant to repay the compensation in futuresye@hat obligation arises from
a deposit component. If the cedant’s accountidizips would otherwise permit
it to recognise the compensation as income witheabgnising the resulting
obligation, unbundling is required.

To unbundle a contract, an insurer shall:
(a) apply this Standard to the insurance component.
(b) apply NZ IAS 39 to the deposit component.
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Recognition and measurement

Temporary exemption from some other NZ IFRSs

13 Paragraphs 10-12 of NZ IASA&ccounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errorspecify criteria for an entity to use in develgpian
accounting policy if no NZ IFRS applies specificalty an item. However, this
Standard exempts an insurer from applying thoseer@i to its accounting

policies for:

(@) insurance contracts that it issues (includielgted acquisition costs and
related intangible assets, such as those desdriltagraphs 31 and 32);
and

(b) reinsurance contracts that it holds.

14 Nevertheless, this Standard does not exemptsaneinfrom some implications of
the criteria in paragraphs 10-12 of NZ IAS 8. Speiify, an insurer:

(a) shall not recognise as a liability any prouisidor possible future claims,
if those claims arise under insurance contractsatenot in existence at
the end of the reporting period (such as catastopiovisions and
equalisation provisions).

(b) shall carry out thiability adequacytestdescribed in paragraphs 15-19.

(c) shall remove an insurance liability (or a paftan insurance liability)
from its statement of financial position when, andlyowhen, it is
extinguished—ie when the obligation specified in tleentract is
discharged or cancelled or expires.

(d) shall not offset:

0] reinsurance assetgainst the related insurance liabilities; or

(ii) income or expense from reinsurance contragtsrst the expense
or income from the related insurance contracts.

(e) shall consider whether its reinsurance assets iampaired (see
paragraph 20).

Liability adequacy test

15 An insurer shall assess at the end of each repimg period whether its
recognised insurance liabilities are adequate, usincurrent estimates of
future cash flows under its insurance contracts. flthat assessment shows
that the carrying amount of its insurance liabilities (less related deferred
acquisition costs and related intangible assets, du as those discussed in
paragraphs 31 and 32) is inadequate in the light dhe estimated future cash
flows, the entire deficiency shall be recognised iprofit or loss.
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If an insurer applies a liability adequacy tdsat meets specified minimum
requirements, this Standard imposes no furtherimegents. The minimum
requirements are the following:

(a) The test considers current estimates of altraotual cash flows, and of
related cash flows such as claims handling costsyedlsas cash flows
resulting from embedded options and guarantees.

(b) If the test shows that the liability is inadetjahe entire deficiency is
recognised in profit or loss.

If an insurer's accounting policies do not reguh liability adequacy test that
meets the minimum requirements of paragraph 1@nsweer shall:

(a) determine the carrying amount of the relevastiiance liabiliti€dess the
carrying amount of:

0] any related deferred acquisition costs; and

(ii) any related intangible assets, such as theseieed in a business
combination or portfolio transfer (see paragraphsahd 32).
However, related reinsurance assets are not condidecause an
insurer accounts for them separately (see parag@ph

(b) determine whether the amount described in (d¢ds than the carrying
amount that would be required if the relevant insoealiabilities were
within the scope of NZ IAS 37 . If it is less, thesumer shall recognise
the entire difference in profit or loss and deceetige carrying amount of
the related deferred acquisition costs or relate@nigible assets or
increase the carrying amount of the relevant imsegdiabilities.

If an insurer's liability adequacy test meet® tminimum requirements of
paragraph 16, the test is applied at the levelggfegation specified in that test.
If its liability adequacy test does not meet thasmimum requirements, the
comparison described in paragraph 17 shall be raattee level of a portfolio of
contracts that are subject to broadly similar risk&l managed together as a
single portfolio.

The amount described in paragraph 17(b) (ierébalt of applying NZ IAS 37)
shall reflect future investment margins (see paplgs 27—29) if, and only if, the
amount described in paragraph 17(a) also reflactset margins.

The relevant insurance liabilities are those iasae liabilities (and related deferred acquisitosts and
related intangible assets) for which the insuracsounting policies do not require a liability adaqy
test that meets the minimum requirements of papdgié.
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20

21

22

23

24

Impairment of reinsurance assets

If a cedant’s reinsurance asset is impaired,ctdant shall reduce its carrying
amount accordingly and recognise that impairmess lm profit or loss. A
reinsurance asset is impaired if, and only if;

(a) there is objective evidence, as a result ofeaent that occurred after
initial recognition of the reinsurance asset, thatcedant may not receive
all amounts due to it under the terms of the caetitiend

(b) that event has a reliably measurable impacheramounts that the cedant
will receive from the reinsurer.

Changes in accounting policies

Paragraphs 22—-30 apply both to changes made msarer that already applies
New Zealand equivalents to IFRSs and to changes ima@a insurer adopting
New Zealand equivalents to IFRSs for the first time.

An insurer may change its accounting policies fansurance contracts if, and
only if, the change makes the financial statementsore relevant to the
economic decision-making needs of users and no lesdiable, or more
reliable and no less relevant to those needs.

An insurer shall judge relevance and reliability bythe criteria in NZ IAS 8.

To justify changing its accounting policies fosurance contracts, an insurer
shall show that the change brings its financialest&nts closer to meeting the
criteria in NZ IAS 8, but the change need not achfeMecompliance with those
criteria. The following specific issues are disagsbelow:

(@) current interest rates (paragraph 24);

(b) continuation of existing practices (paragrapl; 2
(c) prudence (paragraph 26);

(d) future investment margins (paragraphs 27-29J; a
(e) shadow accounting (paragraph 30).

Current market interest rates

An insurer is permitted, but not required, tord®its accounting policies so that
it re-measures designated insurance liabilitiestettect current market interest
rates and recognises changes in those liabilitiggafit or loss. At that time, it

may also introduce accounting policies that reqotfeer current estimates and
assumptions for the designated liabilities. Threx#bn in this paragraph permits

In this paragraph, insurance liabilities inclugtated deferred acquisition costs and relatechgilde
assets, such as those discussed in paragraphs 32.an
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an insurer to change its accounting policies fosigleated liabilities, without
applying those policies consistently to all similabilities as NZ IAS 8 would
otherwise require. If an insurer designates liibdi for this election, it shall
continue to apply current market interest ratesd(ah applicable, the other
current estimates and assumptions) consistenthallinperiods to all these
liabilities until they are extinguished.

Continuation of existing practices

An insurer may continue the following practicest the introduction of any of
them does not satisfy paragraph 22:

(a) measuring insurance liabilities on an undistediasis.

(b) measuring contractual rights to future investtn@anagement fees at an
amount that exceeds their fair value as impliedabgomparison with
current fees charged by other market participamtsimilar services. It is
likely that the fair value at inception of thosentractual rights equals the
origination costs paid, unless future investmennagagment fees and
related costs are out of line with market compasable

(c) using non-uniform accounting policies for thesurance contracts (and
related deferred acquisition costs and relatech@itde assets, if any) of
subsidiaries, except as permitted by paragraph B4hose accounting
policies are not uniform, an insurer may changentifehe change does not
make the accounting policies more diverse and alsfies the other
requirements in this Standard.

Prudence

An insurer need not change its accounting pali¢g insurance contracts to
eliminate excessive prudence. However, if an insalezady measures its
insurance contracts with sufficient prudence, itlishat introduce additional
prudence.

Future investment margins

An insurer need not change its accounting pali¢g insurance contracts to
eliminate future investment margins. However, thigra rebuttable presumption
that an insurer’s financial statements will becoessIrelevant and reliable if it
introduces an accounting policy that reflects fatimvestment margins in the
measurement of insurance contracts, unless thosgimaaffect the contractual
payments. Two examples of accounting policiesrifect those margins are:

(@) using a discount rate that reflects the es@nhaketurn on the insurer's
assets; or
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(b) projecting the returns on those assets at éimaed rate of return,
discounting those projected returns at a differaté and including the
result in the measurement of the liability.

28 An insurer may overcome the rebuttable presumptescribed in paragraph 27
if, and only if, the other components of a chang@dcounting policies increase
the relevance and reliability of its financial staents sufficiently to outweigh
the decrease in relevance and reliability causedth®y inclusion of future
investment margins. For example, suppose thahsurér’s existing accounting
policies for insurance contracts involve excesgiyaudent assumptions set at
inception and a discount rate prescribed by a edguivithout direct reference to
market conditions, and ignore some embedded optioms guarantees. The
insurer might make its financial statements molevent and no less reliable by
switching to a comprehensive investor-oriented bafseccounting that is widely
used and involves:

(a) current estimates and assumptions;

(b) a reasonable (but not excessively prudent)saajent to reflect risk and
uncertainty;

(c) measurements that reflect both the intrinsituwaand time value of
embedded options and guarantees; and

(d) a current market discount rate, even if thatcolint rate reflects the
estimated return on the insurer’s assets.

29 In some measurement approaches, the discountisaised to determine the
present value of a future profit margin. That frafargin is then attributed to
different periods using a formula. In those apphes, the discount rate affects
the measurement of the liability only indirectlyn particular, the use of a less
appropriate discount rate has a limited or no éféet the measurement of the
liability at inception. However, in other approachi® discount rate determines
the measurement of the liability directly. In thatter case, because the
introduction of an asset-based discount rate hawe significant effect, it is
highly unlikely that an insurer could overcome thebuttable presumption
described in paragraph 27.

Shadow accounting

30 In some accounting models, realised gains @eksn an insurer’'s assets have a
direct effect on the measurement of some or afapits insurance liabilities, (b)
related deferred acquisition costs and (c) relatezhgible assets, such as those
described in paragraphs 31 and 32. An insurerrisited, but not required, to
change its accounting policies so that a recogriisgdinrealised gain or loss on
an asset affects those measurements in the samthatay realised gain or loss
does. The related adjustment to the insurancdityafor deferred acquisition
costs or intangible assets) shall be recognisexdhiar comprehensive income fif,
and only if, the unrealised gains or losses aregeised in other comprehensive
income. This practice is sometimes describedladsw accounting’.
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Insurance contracts acquired in a business
combination or portfolio transfer

To comply with NZ IFRS 3, an insurer shall, a #cquisition date, measure at
fair value the insurance liabilities assumed @&mglirance assetacquired in a
business combination. However, an insurer is p&dhitut not required, to use
an expanded presentation that splits the fair vaftecquired insurance contracts
into two components:

(a) a liability measured in accordance with the iiees accounting policies
for insurance contracts that it issues; and

(b) an intangible asset, representing the diffezemetween (i) the fair value
of the contractual insurance rights acquired arglrence obligations
assumed and (i) the amount described in (a). TFobsequent
measurement of this asset shall be consistent hétimeasurement of the
related insurance liability.

An insurer acquiring a portfolio of insurance taots may use the expanded
presentation described in paragraph 31.

The intangible assets described in paragrapten@132 are excluded from the
scope of NZ IAS 38mpairment of Assetand NZ IAS 38. However, NZ IAS 36
and NZ IAS 38 apply to customer lists and customktiomships reflecting the

expectation of future contracts that are not pathe contractual insurance rights
and contractual insurance obligations that existédhe date of a business
combination or portfolio transfer.

Discretionary participation features

Discretionary participation features in insurance c ontracts

Some insurance contracts contain a discretigueatycipation feature as well as a
guaranteed elementThe issuer of such a contract:

(a) may, but need not, recognise the guaranteedeeleseparately from the
discretionary participation feature. If the issdees not recognise them
separately, it shall classify the whole contracadmbility. If the issuer
classifies them separately, it shall classify thmrgnteed element as a
liability.

(b) shall, if it recognises the discretionary pepation feature separately
from the guaranteed element, classify that feasisreither a liability or
a separate component of equity. This Standard doespecify how the
issuer determines whether that feature is a lighali equity. The issuer
may split that feature into liability and equityroponents and shall use
a consistent accounting policy for that split. Tésuer shall not classify
that feature as an intermediate category that ithere liability nor
equity.
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(©

(d)

(€)

may recognise all premiums received as revemitleoout separating any
portion that relates to the equity component. fseilting changes in the
guaranteed element and in the portion of the discrary participation

feature classified as a liability shall be recogdisn profit or loss. If part
or all of the discretionary participation featuse dlassified in equity, a
portion of profit or loss may be attributable tatHeature (in the same
way that a portion may be attributable to non-cdlimig interests). The

issuer shall recognise the portion of profit oslastributable to any equity
component of a discretionary participation featase an allocation of
profit or loss, not as expense or income (see NZl1ASesentation of

Financial Statemen}s

shall, if the contract contains an embeddedvdéve within the scope of
NZ IAS 39, apply NZ IAS 39 to that embedded derivative

shall, in all respects not described in panglgsal4—20 and 34(a)—(d),
continue its existing accounting policies for sucbntracts, unless it
changes those accounting policies in a way that &Gempwith
paragraphs 21-30.

Discretionary participation features in financial i nstruments

35 The requirements in paragraph 34 also apply tfnancial instrument that
contains a discretionary participation feature adidlition:

@)

(b)

©

(d)

© Copyright

if the issuer classifies the entire discretignparticipation feature as a
liability, it shall apply the liability adequacydein paragraphs 15-19 to
the whole contract (ie both the guaranteed elemedttlae discretionary
participation feature). The issuer need not ddteznthe amount that
would result from applying NZ IAS 39 to the guarateéement.

if the issuer classifies part or all of thaatiere as a separate component of
equity, the liability recognised for the whole c@ut shall not be less than
the amount that would result from applying NZ IAS 8%te guaranteed
element. That amount shall include the intrinsidue of an option to
surrender the contract, but need not include it tvalue if paragraph 9
exempts that option from measurement at fair valliee issuer need not
disclose the amount that would result from applyiig IAS 39 to the
guaranteed element, nor need it present that amaceparately.
Furthermore, the issuer need not determine thatuatmd the total
liability recognised is clearly higher.

although these contracts are financial instmis)ethe issuer may continue
to recognise the premiums for those contracts\ante and recognise as
an expense the resulting increase in the carryimguat of the liability.

although these contracts are financial instmisiean issuer applying
paragraph 19(b) of NZIFRS 7 to contracts with a reigonary
participation feature shall disclose the total ies¢ expense recognised in
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profit or loss, but need not calculate such integense using the
effective interest method.

Disclosure

36

37

38

Explanation of recognised amounts

An insurer shall disclose information that identies and explains the
amounts in its financial statements arising from isurance contracts.

To comply with paragraph 36, an insurer shatildee:

(@) its accounting policies for insurance contraetsd related assets,
liabilities, income and expense.

(b) the recognised assets, liabilities, income exgknse (and, if it presents its
statement of cash flows using the direct methody 8asvs) arising from
insurance contracts. Furthermore, if the insueraicedant, it shall
disclose:

0] gains and losses recognised in profit or las$oying reinsurance;
and

(ii) if the cedant defers and amortises gains asgbds arising on
buying reinsurance, the amortisation for the periand the
amounts remaining unamortised at the beginning edl of the
period.

(c) the process used to determine the assumptiahdiave the greatest effect
on the measurement of the recognised amounts dedcim (b). When
practicable, an insurer shall also give quantifdidclosure of those
assumptions.

(d) the effect of changes in assumptions used @sore insurance assets and
insurance liabilities, showing separately the effdatach change that has
a material effect on the financial statements.

(e) reconciliations of changes in insurance ligib#i, reinsurance assets and,
if any, related deferred acquisition costs.

Nature and extent of risks arising from insurance
contracts
An insurer shall disclose information that enabls users of its financial

statements to evaluate the nature and extent of ks arising from insurance
contracts.
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39 To comply with paragraph 38, an insurer shatildee:

(a) its objectives, policies and processes for mewggarisks arising from
insurance contracts and the methods used to mainege risks.

(b) [deleted by IASB]

(c) information about insurance risk (both befonel after risk mitigation by
reinsurance), including information about:

0] sensitivity to insurance risk (see paragrapA)39
(ii) concentrations of insurance risk, includingdescription of how
management determines concentrations and a désaript the

shared characteristic that identifies each conagatr (eg type of
insured event, geographical area, or currency).

(i) actual claims compared with previous estimatéis claims
development). The disclosure about claims developrakall go
back to the period when the earliest material claiogse for which
there is still uncertainty about the amount andrtgrof the claims
payments, but need not go back more than ten y@arsnsurer
need not disclose this information for claims foriegthuncertainty
about the amount and timing of claims paymentsyjscally
resolved within one year.

(d) information about credit risk, liquidity risknd market risk that
paragraphs 31-42 of NZ IFRS 7 would require if theuiance contracts
were within the scope of NZ IFRS. However:

0] an insurer need not provide the maturity anedysequired by
paragraph 39(a) and (b) of NZ IFRS 7 if it discloggfermation
about the estimated timing of the net cash outfloegsilting from
recognised insurance liabilities instead. This r@ke the form of
an analysis, by estimated timing, of the amountsgrised in the
statement of financial position.

(ii) if an insurer uses an alternative method tonage sensitivity to
market conditions, such as an embedded value asaltysay use
that sensitivity analysis to meet the requiremergaragraph 40(a)
of NZ IFRS 7. Such an insurer shall also provide dreelosures
required by paragraph 41 of NZ IFRS 7.

(e) information about exposures to market risk isgisfrom embedded
derivatives contained in a host insurance contifathe insurer is not
required to, and does not, measure the embeddeaiilers at fair value.

Qualifying entities applying NZ IFRS 4 shall compm full with any requirements of NZ IFRS 7 which
are referred to in NZ IFRS 4.
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To comply with paragraph 39(c)(i), an insurealkldisclose either (a) or (b) as
follows:

(@) a sensitivity analysis that shows how profitass and equity would have
been affected if changes in the relevant risk \ighat were reasonably
possible at the end of the reporting period hadioed; the methods and
assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity aislyand any changes
from the previous period in the methods and assiompused. However,
if an insurer uses an alternative method to marsagsitivity to market
conditions, such as an embedded value analysisnay meet this
requirement by disclosing that alternative senigjtianalysis and the
disclosures required by paragraph 41 of NZ IFRS 7.

(b) qualitative information about sensitivity, andformation about those
terms and conditions of insurance contracts thae lramaterial effect on
the amount, timing and uncertainty of the insuréutsire cash flows.

Effective date and transition

40

41

41A

The transitional provisions in paragraphs 41agply both to an entity that is
already applying New Zealand equivalents to IFRSs wihdinst applies this

Standard and to an entity that applies New Zealand/agnts to IFRSs for the
first time (a first-time adopter).

This Standard becomes operative for an entiitgancial statements that cover
annual accounting periods beginning on or aftesriudry 2007. Early adoption
of this Standard is permitted only when the entitynplies with NZ IFRS First-
time Adoption of New Zealand Equivalents to InternatioRi@ancial Reporting
Standarddor an annual accounting period beginning on teraf January 2005.

Financial Guarantee Contract§Amendments to NZ IAS 39 and NZ IFRS 4),
issued in August 2005, amended paragraphs 4(d)(@®1B19(f), and Appendix D,
paragraph 2(f). An entity shall apply those amemats for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2007. An entigt tomplies with NZ IFRS 1 for
an annual accounting period beginning on or aftdariuary 2005 and before
1 January 2007 shall apply those amendments faraperiods beginning on or
after 1 January 2006. Earlier application is engged. If an entity applies those
amendments for an earlier period, it shall disclitset fact and apply the related
amendments to NZ IAS 39 and NZ IAS 22 the same time.

*  When an entity applies NZ IFRS 7, the referetuchBlZ IAS 32 is replaced by a reference to NZ IFRS
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All Entities
NZ 41A.1 An entity shall apply the Amendments to NZFRS 4 Insurance

Contracts—The Scope of Insurance Activities and [Riféntial Reporting
Concessions deleting paragraph NZ 6.1 and the asterisks in fron of
paragraphs 36 and 38, and amending paragraphs NZ4.2and 39(d) for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 Earlier application is
encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments foa period beginning
before 1 January 2009, it shall disclose that fact.

41B

42

43

44

45

NZIAS 1 (as revised in 2007) amended the terlogy used throughout
NZ IFRSs. In addition it amended paragraph 30. Atitye shall apply those
amendments for annual periods beginning on or &fflemuary 2009. If an entity
applies NZ IAS 1 (revised 2007) for an earlier perittee amendments shall be
applied for that earlier period.

Disclosure

An entity need not apply the disclosure requireinein this Standard to
comparative information that relates to annual qusi beginning before
1 January 2005, except for the disclosures requisegharagraph 37(a) and (b)
about accounting policies, and recognised assatslities, income and expense
(and cash flows if the direct method is used).

If it is impracticable to apply a particular véeement of paragraphs 10-35 to
comparative information that relates to annual qui beginning before
1 January 2005, an entity shall disclose that facApplying the liability
adequacy test (paragraphs 15-19) to such comparaiiiformation might
sometimes be impracticable, but it is highly urljke be impracticable to apply
other requirements of paragraphs 10-35 to such amtipe information.
NZ IAS 8 explains the term ‘impracticable’.

In applying paragraph 39(c)(iii), an entity nesat disclose information about
claims development that occurred earlier than ywars before the end of the first
financial year in which it applies this Standard. urtRermore, if it is
impracticable, when an entity first applies thisr8i@rd, to prepare information
about claims development that occurred before thginming of the earliest
period for which an entity presents full comparatinérmation that complies
with this Standard, the entity shall disclose tlaat.f

Redesignation of financial assets

When an insurer changes its accounting polifdesnsurance liabilities, it is

permitted, but not required, to reclassify somealbiof its financial assets as ‘at
fair value through profit or loss’. This reclassiftion is permitted if an insurer
changes accounting policies when it first appllds Standard and if it makes a
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subsequent policy change permitted by paragraph®2e reclassification is a
change in accounting policy and NZ IAS 8 applies.
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Appendix A

Defined terms

This Appendix is an integral part of the Standard.

cedant

deposit
component

direct insurance

contract

discretionary
participation
feature

fair value

financial
guarantee
contract

financial risk

guaranteed
benefits

© Copyright

Thepolicyholder under areinsurance contract

A contractual component that is not accounted for a
derivative under NZ IA89 and would be within the scope
NZ IAS 39 if it were a separate instrument.

An insurance contractthat is not aeinsurance contract.

A contractual right to receive, as a supplemerguaranteec
benefits, additional benefits:

(€) that are likely to be a significant gion of the tote
contractual benefits;

(b) whose amount or timing is contractually at
discretion of the issuer; and

(c) that are contractually based on:

0] the performance of a specified pool of contracts
specified type of contract;

(ii) realised and/or unrealised investment returns
specified pool of assets held by the issuer; or

(i) the profit or loss of the company, fund or othetitg

that issues the contract.

The amount for which an asset could be exchangea|iability
settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in am’s
length transaction.

A contract that requires the issuer to make specgayments 1
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs becausspecifie(
debtor failsto make payment when due in accordance wit
original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

The risk of a possible future change in one or mofez
specified interest rate, financial instrument pricemmodit
price, foreign excharg rate, index of prices or rates, cr
rating or credit index or other variable, providadhe case of
nonfinancial variable that the variable is not spectfi a part
to the contract.

Payments or other benefits to which a particptaicyholder or
investor has an unconditional right that is notjsabto the
contractual discretion of the issuer.
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guaranteed An obligation to payguaranteed benefits included in

element contract that containsdiscretionary participation feature.

insurance asset An insurer's net contractual rights under amsurance
contract.

insurance A contract under which one party (th@surer) accept

contract significant insurance risk from another party (it

policyholder) by agreeing to comperteathe policyholder if
specified uncertain future event (tivesured even) adversel
affects the policyholder. (See Appendixor guidance on th

definition.)
insurance An insurer's net contractual obligations under arsurance
liability contract.
insurance risk Risk, other tharfinancial risk, transferred from the holder o

contract to the issuer.

insured event An uncertain future event that is covered by imgurance
contract and createmsurance risk.

insurer The party that has an obligation undelirssurance contract to
compensate policyholder if aninsured eventoccurs.

liability adequacy  An assessment of whether the carrying amount dfsurance

test liability needs to be increased (or the carrying amountiatiec
deferred acquisition costs or related intangibketsdecrease
based on a review of future cash flows.

policyholder A party that has a right to compensation undelingurance
contract if aninsured evenboccurs.

reinsurance A cedant’snet contractual rights undereinsurance contract.

assets

reinsurance An insurance contractissued by onénsurer (thereinsurer)

contract to compensate another insurer (teelan? for losses on one

more contracts issued by tbedant

reinsurer The party that has an obligation under@surance contract
to compensate eedantif aninsured eventoccurs.

unbundle Account for the components of a contract as if thesre
separate contracts.

33 © Copyright



NZ IFRS 4

Appendix B
Definition of an insurance contract

This Appendix is an integral part of the Standard.

Bl

B2

B3

B4

B5

This Appendix gives guidance on the definition af insurance contract in
Appendix A. It addresses the following issues:

(a) the term ‘uncertain future event’ (paragrapB@s-B4);

(b) payments in kind (paragraphs B5-B7);

(c) insurance risk and other risks (paragraphs B33B

(d) examples of insurance contracts (paragraphs-B28);

(e) significant insurance risk (paragraphs B22—-Baayl

)] changes in the level of insurance risk (parpgsaB29 and B30).

Uncertain future event

Uncertainty (or risk) is the essence of an insceacontract. Accordingly, at least
one of the following is uncertain at the inceptidran insurance contract:

(a) whether amsured evenwill occur;
(b) when it will occur; or
(c) how much the insurer will need to pay if it ocur

In some insurance contracts, the insured ewethia discovery of a loss during
the term of the contract, even if the loss arisemfan event that occurred before
the inception of the contract. In other insuraocestracts, the insured event is an
event that occurs during the term of the contraggn if the resulting loss is

discovered after the end of the contract term.

Some insurance contracts cover events that hleady occurred, but whose
financial effect is still uncertain. An exampleaiseinsurance contract that covers
the direct insurer against adverse developmentlaims already reported by
policyholders. In such contracts, the insured eventhe discovery of the
ultimate cost of those claims.

Payments in kind

Some insurance contracts require or permit paygn® be made in kind. An
example is when the insurer replaces a stolen artititectly, instead of
reimbursing the policyholder. Another example is wia@ insurer uses its own
hospitals and medical staff to provide medical iseisscovered by the contracts.
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Some fixed-fee service contracts in which theellesf service depends on an
uncertain event meet the definition of an insuracmetract in this Standard but
are not regulated as insurance contracts in somgetiies. One example is a
maintenance contract in which the service providgees to repair specified
equipment after a malfunction. The fixed service fe based on the expected
number of malfunctions, but it is uncertain whetlheparticular machine will
break down. The malfunction of the equipment acdgraffects its owner and
the contract compensates the owner (in kind, ratiear cash). Another example
is a contract for car breakdown services in whichpitwvider agrees, for a fixed
annual fee, to provide roadside assistance or tevedh to a nearby garage. The
latter contract could meet the definition of anui@sce contract even if the
provider does not agree to carry out repairs daoepparts.

Applying the Standard to the contracts describeglaragraph B6 is likely to be
no more burdensome than applying the New Zealani/aguts to IFRSs that
would be applicable if such contracts were outsiéesttope of this Standard:

(a) There are unlikely to be material liabilitie®r f malfunctions and
breakdowns that have already occurred.

(b) If NZ IAS 18 Revenueapplied, the service provider would recognise
revenue by reference to the stage of completionl @ubject to other
specified criteria). That approach is also acddptander this Standard,
which permits the service provider (i) to continte eéxisting accounting
policies for these contracts unless they involvacfices prohibited by
paragraph 14 and (ii) to improve its accountinggies if so permitted by
paragraphs 22-30.

(c) The service provider considers whether the cbateeting its contractual
obligation to provide services exceeds the revemgeived in advance.
To do this, it applies the liability adequacy tedescribed in
paragraphs 15-19 of this Standard. If this Stahdat not apply to these
contracts, the service provider would apply NZ IAS &7 determine
whether the contracts are onerous.

(d) For these contracts, the disclosure requiresnémtthis Standard are
unlikely to add significantly to disclosures reauarby other New Zealand
equivalents to IFRSs.

Distinction between insurance risk and other risks

The definition of an insurance contract refeosinsurance risk, which this
Standard defines as risk, other thismancial risk transferred from the holder of a
contract to the issuer. A contract that exposessteer to financial risk without
significant insurance risk is not an insurance i@wit

The definition of financial risk in Appendix A ihades a list of financial and non-
financial variables. That list includes non-finaalcrariables that are not specific
to a party to the contract, such as an index ahqaeke losses in a particular
region or an index of temperatures in a particalgr. It excludes non-financial
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variables that are specific to a party to the @witrsuch as the occurrence or non-
occurrence of a fire that damages or destroys set a$ that party. Furthermore,
the risk of changes in the fair value of a nonficial asset is not a financial risk
if the fair value reflects not only changes in nwrlprices for such assets
(a financial variable) but also the condition o$ecific non-financial asset held
by a party to a contract (a non-financial variablEpr example, if a guarantee of
the residual value of a specific car exposes tlegaguor to the risk of changes in
the car's physical condition, that risk is insuramisk, not financial risk.

B10 Some contracts expose the issuer to finan@#l in addition to significant
insurance risk. For example, many life insurancetracts both guarantee a
minimum rate of return to policyholders (creatimgahcial risk) and promise death
benefits that at some times significantly exceedpblicyholder’s account balance
(creating insurance risk in the form of mortalitsk). Such contracts are insurance
contracts.

B11 Under some contracts, an insured event trigherpayment of an amount linked to
a price index. Such contracts are insurance adsfrarovided the payment that is
contingent on the insured event can be significdrdr example, a life-contingent
annuity linked to a cost-of-living index transfémsurance risk because payment is
triggered by an uncertain event—the survival ofghauitant. The link to the price
index is an embedded derivative, but it also terssihsurance risk. If the resulting
transfer of insurance risk is significant, the eddsxl derivative meets the
definition of an insurance contract, in which céseeed not be separated and
measured at fair value (see paragraph 7 of thigl8td).

B12 The definition of insurance risk refers to riglat the insurer accepts from the
policyholder. In other words, insurance risk isre-pxisting risk transferred from
the policyholder to the insurer. Thus, a new rigkated by the contract is not
insurance risk.

B13 The definition of an insurance contract reféss an adverse effect on the
policyholder. The definition does not limit theypgent by the insurer to an amount
equal to the financial impact of the adverse evéiar example, the definition does
not exclude ‘new-for-old’ coverage that pays thdigybolder sufficient to permit
replacement of a damaged old asset by a new aSgetlarly, the definition does
not limit payment under a term life insurance cacittto the financial loss suffered
by the deceased’s dependants, nor does it pretthedpayment of predetermined
amounts to quantify the loss caused by death aceident.

B14 Some contracts require a payment if a specifiexértain event occurs, but do not
require an adverse effect on the policyholder peaondition for payment. Such
a contract is not an insurance contract even ifhbleler uses the contract to
mitigate an underlying risk exposure. For examifléne holder uses a derivative
to hedge an underlying non-financial variable tisatorrelated with cash flows
from an asset of the entity, the derivative is aotinsurance contract because
payment is not conditional on whether the holdemadwersely affected by a
reduction in the cash flows from the asset. Comlgrghe definition of an
insurance contract refers to an uncertain evenivfoch an adverse effect on the
policyholder is a contractual precondition for pa&rh This contractual
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precondition does not require the insurer to ingest whether the event actually
caused an adverse effect, but permits the insorefehy payment if it is not
satisfied that the event caused an adverse effect.

Lapse or persistency risk (ie the risk thatdbenterparty will cancel the contract
earlier or later than the issuer had expected inimy the contract) is not
insurance risk because the payment to the coumtgrizanot contingent on an
uncertain future event that adversely affects thnterparty. Similarly, expense
risk (ie the risk of unexpected increases in thmiadtrative costs associated
with the servicing of a contract, rather than intsoassociated with insured
events) is not insurance risk because an unexpeutszhse in expenses does not
adversely affect the counterparty.

Therefore, a contract that exposes the issudapse risk, persistency risk or
expense risk is not an insurance contract unlesdsd exposes the issuer to
insurance risk. However, if the issuer of that carttraitigates that risk by using
a second contract to transfer part of that ris&rtother party, the second contract
exposes that other party to insurance risk.

An insurer can accept significant insuranck fism the policyholder only if the
insurer is an entity separate from the policyholderthe case of a mutual insurer,
the mutual accepts risk from each policyholder aodls that risk. Although
policyholders bear that pooled risk collectively threir capacity as owners, the
mutual has still accepted the risk that is theressef an insurance contract.

Examples of insurance contracts

The following are examples of contracts that m®urance contracts, if the
transfer of insurance risk is significant:

(@) insurance against theft or damage to property.

(b) insurance against product liability, professibhability, civil liability or
legal expenses.

(c) life insurance and prepaid funeral plans (altffo death is certain, it is
uncertain when death will occur or, for some typeslifef insurance,
whether death will occur within the period coveredhry insurance).

(d) life-contingent annuities and pensions (ie cacts that provide
compensation for the uncertain future event—theigalk of the annuitant
or pensioner—to assist the annuitant or pensianendintaining a given
standard of living, which would otherwise be adversdfgected by his or
her survival).

(e) disability and medical cover.

® surety bonds, fidelity bonds, performance bonded bid bonds
(ie contracts that provide compensation if anotieaty fails to perform a
contractual obligation, for example an obligatiorconstruct a building).

37 © Copyright



NZ IFRS 4

(@)

(h)

@

0

(k)

o

(m)

credit insurance that provides for specifiedympants to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs becauspegified debtor fails to
make payment when due under the original or modifegths of a debt
instrument. These contracts could have varioual lEgms, such as that
of a guarantee, some types of letter of creditrealit derivative default
contract or an insurance contract. However, althdhgbe contracts meet
the definition of an insurance contract, they aiseet the definition of a
financial guarantee contract in NZ IAS 39 and are iwitthe scope of
NZ IAS 32 and NZIAS 39, not this NZ IFRS (see paragraid)).
Nevertheless, if an issuer of financial guarantegtrects has previously
asserted explicitly that it regards such contrastinsurance contracts and
has used accounting applicable to insurance cadstrée issuer may elect
to apply either NZ IAS 39 and NZ IAS 32r this Standard to such
financial guarantee contracts.

product warranties. Product warranties issuedrother party for goods
sold by a manufacturer, dealer or retailer are witthie scope of this
Standard. However, product warranties issued dyrégtla manufacturer,
dealer or retailer are outside its scope, becawsg dare within the scope
of NZ IAS 18Revenuand NZ IAS 37.

title insurance (ie insurance against the diecy of defects in title to land
that were not apparent when the insurance contractwigen). In this

case, the insured event is the discovery of a tefethe title, not the
defect itself.

travel assistance (ie compensation in casmdind to policyholders for
losses suffered while they are travelling). PanalgseB6 and B7 discuss
some contracts of this kind.

catastrophe bonds that provide for reduced gsysof principal, interest
or both if a specified event adversely affectsidiseer of the bond (unless
the specified event does not create significanirensce risk, for example
if the event is a change in an interest rate @ifpr exchange rate).

insurance swaps and other contracts that recaiayment based on
changes in climatic, geological or other physiaiables that are specific
to a party to the contract.

reinsurance contracts.

B19 The following are examples of items that areinstirance contracts:

@)

investment contracts that have the legal fofranoinsurance contract but
do not expose the insurer to significant insurarisk, for example life
insurance contracts in which the insurer bears grifgiant mortality risk
(such contracts are non-insurance financial instnis1 or service
contracts, see paragraphs B20 and B21).

*
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contracts that have the legal form of insurarmg pass all significant
insurance risk back to the policyholder through -cancellable and
enforceable mechanisms that adjust future paynmanthe policyholder
as a direct result of insured losses, for exampfeesfinancial reinsurance
contracts or some group contracts (such contragsnarmally non-
insurance financial instruments or service conssasee paragraphs B20
and B21).

self-insurance, in other words retaining a riblat could have been
covered by insurance (there is no insurance cantracause there is no
agreement with another party).

contracts (such as gambling contracts) thauireqa payment if a
specified uncertain future event occurs, but doreqtire, as a contractual
precondition for payment, that the event adverselffects the

policyholder. However, this does not preclude thecsjgation of a

predetermined payout to quantify the loss caused tppecified event
such as death or an accident (see also paragreg)h B1

derivatives that expose one party to finang&d but not insurance risk,
because they require that party to make paymertdbsaslely on changes
in one or more of a specified interest rate, fin@nmstrument price,
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index a€gw or rates, credit
rating or credit index or other variable, providiedthe case of a non-
financial variable that the variable is not specifi a party to the contract
(see NZ IAS 39).

a credit-related guarantee (or letter of creditedit derivative default
contract or credit insurance contract) that requpayments even if the
holder has not incurred a loss on the failure af ttebtor to make
payments when due (see NZ IAS 39).

contracts that require a payment based onnaatii, geological or other
physical variable that is not specific to a padyhe contract (commonly
described as weather derivatives).

catastrophe bonds that provide for reduced paysnof principal, interest
or both, based on a climatic, geological or otheysial variable that is
not specific to a party to the contract.

If the contracts described in paragraph Bl%terdinancial assets or financial
liabilities, they are within the scope of NZ IAS 3%Among other things, this
means that the parties to the contract use whabrnsesmes called deposit
accounting, which involves the following:

@)

(b)

one party recognises the consideration receaged financial liability,
rather than as revenue.

the other party recognises the consideratioid pa a financial asset,
rather than as an expense.

If the contracts described in paragraph B19ndb create financial assets or
financial liabilities, NZ IAS 18 applies. Under NZ IASB, revenue associated
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with a transaction involving the rendering of seegids recognised by reference
to the stage of completion of the transaction & dlutcome of the transaction can
be estimated reliably.

Significant insurance risk

B22 A contract is an insurance contract only ifrénsfers significant insurance risk.
Paragraphs B8-B21 discuss insurance risk. Thewoll paragraphs discuss the
assessment of whether insurance risk is significant.

B23 Insurance risk is significant if, and onlyafy insured event could cause an insurer
to pay significant additional benefits in any sa@maexcluding scenarios that lack
commercial substance (ie have no discernible effectthe economics of the
transaction). If significant additional benefitould be payable in scenarios that
have commercial substance, the condition in theigue sentence may be met even
if the insured event is extremely unlikely or evéthe expected (ie probability-
weighted) present value of contingent cash flows ismall proportion of the
expected present value of all the remaining cotughcash flows.

B24 The additional benefits described in paragiap8 refer to amounts that exceed
those that would be payable if no insured eventiwed (excluding scenarios that
lack commercial substance). Those additional atsounclude claims handling
and claims assessment costs, but exclude:

(a) the loss of the ability to charge the policylesl for future services. For
example, in an investment-linked life insurancetrast, the death of the
policyholder means that the insurer can no longafopm investment
management services and collect a fee for doing stmwever, this
economic loss for the insurer does not reflect riasce risk, just as a
mutual fund manager does not take on insuranceimigklation to the
possible death of the client. Therefore, the pieross of future
investment management fees is not relevant in sisgeiow much
insurance risk is transferred by a contract.

(b) waiver on death of charges that would be madecamcellation or
surrender. Because the contract brought thosgetanto existence, the
waiver of these charges does not compensate theypolder for a pre-
existing risk. Hence, they are not relevant ineasg\g how much
insurance risk is transferred by a contract.

(c) a payment conditional on an event that doescaose a significant loss to
the holder of the contract. For example, considewntract that requires the
issuer to pay one million currency units if an assdfers physical damage
causing an insignificant economic loss of one aqwyeunit to the holder. In
this contract, the holder transfers to the insuner insignificant risk of
losing one currency unit. At the same time, thetext creates non-
insurance risk that the issuer will need to pay,999 currency units if the
specified event occurs. Because the issuer doesguept significant
insurance risk from the holder, this contract isainsurance contract.

(d) possible reinsurance recoveries. The inswewwants for these separately.
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An insurer shall assess the significance afrargce risk contract by contract, rather
than by reference to materiality to the financi@itements. Thus, insurance risk
may be significant even if there is a minimal ptubity of material losses for a
whole book of contracts. This contract-by-contrassessment makes it easier to
classify a contract as an insurance contract. Hewyéiva relatively homogeneous
book of small contracts is known to consist of cacts that all transfer insurance
risk, an insurer need not examine each contratirwthat book to identify a few
non-derivative contracts that transfer insignificasurance risk.

It follows from paragraphs B23-B25 that if a want pays a death benefit
exceeding the amount payable on survival, the aohis an insurance contract
unless the additional death benefit is insignific§ndged by reference to the
contract rather than to an entire book of contjacts As noted in
paragraph B24(b), the waiver on death of canceliatiosurrender charges is not
included in this assessment if this waiver doescoohpensate the policyholder
for a pre-existing risk. Similarly, an annuity ¢t that pays out regular sums
for the rest of a policyholder’s life is an insucancontract, unless the aggregate
life-contingent payments are insignificant.

Paragraph B23 refers to additional benefitshese additional benefits could
include a requirement to pay benefits earlier & thsured event occurs earlier
and the payment is not adjusted for the time vafienoney. An example is

whole life insurance for a fixed amount (in other dmrinsurance that provides a
fixed death benefit whenever the policyholder diggh no expiry date for the

cover). It is certain that the policyholder willedibut the date of death is
uncertain. The insurer will suffer a loss on thosgividual contracts for which

policyholders die early, even if there is no ovetass on the whole book of

contracts.

If an insurance contract is unbundled into podé& component and an insurance
component, the significance of insurance risk fiemis assessed by reference to
the insurance component. The significance of msce risk transferred by an
embedded derivative is assessed by reference tnthedded derivative.

Changes in the level of insurance risk

Some contracts do not transfer any insurargle 0 the issuer at inception,
although they do transfer insurance risk at a latee. For example, consider a
contract that provides a specified investment neturd includes an option for the
policyholder to use the proceeds of the investnmntmaturity to buy a life-

contingent annuity at the current annuity rates@éa by the insurer to other new
annuitants when the policyholder exercises the optithe contract transfers no
insurance risk to the issuer until the option i®reised, because the insurer
remains free to price the annuity on a basis tefleats the insurance risk
transferred to the insurer at that time. Howeverthd contract specifies the

For this purpose, contracts entered into simeltasly with a single counterparty (or contractd tva
otherwise interdependent) form a single contract.
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annuity rates (or a basis for setting the annuittes), the contract transfers
insurance risk to the issuer at inception.

B30 A contract that qualifies as an insurance cehtramains an insurance contract
until all rights and obligations are extinguishecdeapire.

© Copyright 42



Appendix C
Life Insurance Entities

This Appendix is an integral part of the Standard.

NZ IFRS 4

Paragraphs
APPLICATION 11
SCOPE
Life insurance contracts 2.1
Embedded derivatives 2.2.1
Deposit components 231
PURPOSE OF APPENDIX 3.1
ENTITY AND CONSOLIDATION ISSUES
The life insurer entity 4.1
Financial statements of groups that include a life insurer subsidiary 4.2
PREMIUMS AND CLAIMS 5.1
REINSURANCE
Reporting by cedants 6.1
Reporting by reinsurers 6.2
IMPAIRMENT OF REINSURANCE ASSETS 7.1.1
LIFE INSURANCE LIABILITIES
Present value and best estimates 8.1
Acquisition costs 8.1.7
Recognition of planned margins as revenues 8.2
Differences between actual and assumed experience 8. 3
Changes to underlying assumptions 8.4
Changes to discount rates and related economic assum ptions 8.5.4
Liability adequacy test 8.6
Discount rates 8.7
Financial instruments with discretionary participat ion features 8.9
PARTICIPATING BENEFITS 9.1

43

© Copyright



NZ IFRS 4

ASSETS BACKING LIFE INSURANCE LIABILITIES OR LIFE
INVESTMENT CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Fair value approach

Measurement

Separate financial statements
IMPUTED INFLOWS AND OUTFLOWS
LIFE INVESTMENT CONTRACTS

LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS ACQUIRED IN A BUSINESS
COMBINATION OR PORTFOLIO TRANSFER

LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS DISCLOSURE — EXPLANATION
OF RECOGNISED AMOUNTS

LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS DISCLOSURE — NATURE AND
EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS

OTHER DISCLOSURES RELATING TO LIFE INSURANCE
CONTRACTS

DISCLOSURES RELATING TO LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS
AND LIFE INVESTMENT CONTRACTS

Financial performance

Restrictions on assets

Guaranteed or assured returns of funds invested

Equity

Solvency information

Managed funds and other fiduciary activities

Actuarial information

Assets backing life insurance liabilities or life i nvestment
contract liabilities

Other disclosures

DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION

Investment-linked and non-investment-linked busines S
Imputed inflows and outflows

Policyholder credit account

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS

DEFINITIONS

© Copyright 44

10.1.1
10.2
10.7
111
12.1

13.1.1

141

15.1

16.1

171

17.3

17. 4

17.5

17.8
17.9

17.10

17.11
17.12.1

18.1
18.3
18.4
19.1
20.1



NZ IFRS 4

The paragraph numbering in this Appendix is the sasehe numbering of AASB 1038
Life Insurance ContractsWhere there is an Australian requirement but ooesponding
New Zealand requirement a paragraph number is gifellpwed by the words “Not
Used".

Introduction

Life Insurance Entities incorporates the limitedpimmvements to accounting for insurance
contracts required by IFRSIdsurance ContractsLife insurers applying this Standard and
the New Zealand equivalents to other Internationaai¢ial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
will therefore be compliant with IFRSs.

IFRS 4 is being implemented in New Zealand using:

. NZ IFRS 4 Insurance Contractthe New Zealand equivalent to IFRS 4) which
applies to insurance contracts;

. NZ IFRS 4 Appendix CLife Insurance Entitieswhich applies to life insurance
entities; and

. NZ IFRS 4 Appendix DFinancial Reporting of Insurance Activitighich applies to
general insurance activities.

NZ IFRS 4 Appendix C specifies the financial repagtiand disclosures required in the
general purpose financial statements issued bynifierers. The Appendix:

(@) requires an entity to separate some embeddadtiles from their host contract;

(b) permits unbundling of the insurance componert the deposit component of an
insurance contract if the deposit component caseparately measured;

(c) requires reinsurance assets to be tested fmairment;

(d) requires recognition of life insurance lialidg at the end of each reporting period at
the net present value of future receipts from aaghpents to policyholders on the
basis of assumptions that are best estimates;

(e) requires assumptions used for measuring Igarance liabilities to be reviewed for
each reporting period;

® requires the performance of a liability adequgest;

(9) specifies appropriate discount rates to be fethe measurement of life insurance
liabilities;

(h) requires assets backing life insurance liabditto be measured at fair value in
accordance with the appropriate New Zealand equivateriFRSs;

0] permits insurers to present the fair value ofurance contracts acquired in a
business combination or portfolio transfer as tepasate components:

0] liability measured in accordance with an insigemccounting policies;
and
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(ii) an intangible asset, representing the faiugabf the contractual insurance
rights and insurance obligations acquired, to tkterg that the liability
does not reflect fair value; and

0] requires substantial disclosures in the finahsiatements.

Terms defined in Section 20 are in italics thetfiisne they appear in the Appendix.
Definitions of other terms are given in the Glossary.

Adoption of this Appendix is required when a life insuadopts New Zealand equivalents
to IFRSs. Entities that comply with this Appendixivd@imultaneously be in compliance
with NZ IFRS 4lnsurance Contractand IFRS 4nsurance Contracts

This Appendix, when operative, supersedes FRSL#4: Insurance Business

Comparison with AASB 1038

The requirements of this Appendix and AASB 1038 arelar except that this Appendix:

€) does not refer to the Australian Life Insuradot 1995. The relevant paragraphs
from FRS-34 dealing with the issue have been cafoedard into this Standard;

(b) excludes any references to APRA and APRA requirésnieacause New Zealand
does not have a regulatory body equivalent to APRA;

(c) does not include reference to statutory funslstheere are no statutory funds in
New Zealand:;

(d) requires investment properties backing lifeurasce liabilities or life investment
contract liabilities to be measured at fair value accordance with NZ IAS 40
Investment PropertyReferences to the cost model in NZ IAS 40 haenlokeleted as
NZ IAS 40 requires all investment property to beaswged at fair value; and

(e) retains disclosures from FRS-34, many of whighcansidered necessary as there is
less regulation of life insurers in New Zealand.

Application

1.1 This Appendix applies to the general purpose fancial statements of:

(a) each life insurer that issues insurance contracts, orfinancial
instrumentswith a discretionary participation feature; and

(b) each group which includes a life insurer that ssues insurance
contracts or financial instruments with a discretiary participation
feature.

111 This Appendix applies to the consolidated rfoial statements of a group in
relation to a life insurer subsidiary. Paragrapgh 4 of particular relevance in
these cases. This Appendix does not apply to regotty a group for its
activities other than its life insurance businesth measuring and reporting
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business other than life insurance business asasgetispects of life insurance
business where this Appendix contains no requiresnengroup that includes a
life insurer should follow appropriate financial ceping standards.

1.2 This Appendix becomes operative for an entity’sinancial statements that
cover annual accounting periods beginning on or aér 1 January 2007.
Early adoption of this Appendix is permitted only when the entity complies
with  NZIFRS 1 First-time Adoption of New Zealand Equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standard$or an annual accounting period
beginning on or after 1 January 2005.

1.2A Paragraphs 10.7 and 10.7.2 were amended byprovements to NZ IFRSs
2008 issued in June 2008. An entity shall apply tse amendments for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009prospectively from the
date at which it first applied NZ IFRS 5Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations Earlier application is permitted. If an entity
applies the amendments for an earlier period it shadisclose that fact.

1.2B Paragraph 17.10 was amended ®mnibus Amendment§2009-1). An entity
shall apply that amendment for annual periods begining on or after
1 July 2009. Early application is permitted. If an entity applies the
amendment for an earlier period it shall disclosettat fact.

1.3 [Not Used]
1.4 [Not Used]
1.4.1 [Not Used]

1.4.2 For the purposes of NZ IAS 3aterim Financial Reportinghe determination of
policy liabilities does not necessarily require @l factuarial valuation. In
accordance with NZ IAS 34, policy liabilities would ©e® be determined on a
reliable basis, would be based on reasonable estmatould include a full
review of assumptions, and would not be materiallffedint from policy
liabilities determined by a full actuarial valuatio

15 When operative, this Appendix supersedes FRS-34ife Insurance Business

1.6 FRS-34 (issued in November 1998) remains appécantil superseded by this
Appendix.

1.7 [Not Used]

Scope

Life insurance contracts

2.1 This Appendix applies to the general purpose fancial statements of:
(a) each life insurer; and
(b) each group which includes a life insurer.
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2.11

2.12

2.1.3

214
2.15

2.1.6

221

222

An insurance contract is:

(a) an insurance contractas defined by this Appendix, issued by a life
insurer; or

(b) a financial instrument with discretionary participation featurewhich is
issued by a life insurer.

All other insurance contracts are generalrarszte contracts and are accounted
for under NZ IFRS 4 Appendix Binancial Reporting of Insurance Activities
NZ IFRS 4Insurance Contracts

A life insurer is defined as an entity opergtunder the Life Insurance Act and
similar entities operating outside New Zealand.

[Not Used]

Life insurers often sell contracts that do meet the definition of an insurance
contract in this Appendix. These contracts arerrefl to as investment contracts
for the purposes of this Appendix. Section 12 askks the requirements in
relation to investment contracts.

A financial instrument with a discretionargricipation feature, issued by a
life insurer, is defined as e insurance contracfor the purposes of this
Appendix and in measuring the insurance liabilitigsuers of such
instruments would apply paragraph 8.9. NZ IFREirancial Instruments:
Disclosuresaddresses additional disclosure in relation to ehfisancial
instruments.

Embedded derivatives

NZ IAS 39Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measuremegguires an
entity to separate some embedded derivatives ft@in host contract, measure
them at fair value and include changes in their failue in profit or loss.
NZ IAS 39 applies to derivatives embedded in a fifsurance contract unless the
embedded derivative is itself a life insurance catt

As an exception to the requirement in NZ IAS&9,insurer need not separate,
and measure at fair value, a policyholder's optionsurrender an insurance
contract for a fixed amount (or for an amount baseda fixed amount and an
interest rate) even if the exercise price diffexaT the carrying amount of the
hostinsurance liability However, the requirement in NZ IAS 39 applies &
option or cash surrender option embedded in anranse contract if the
surrender value varies in response to the changdiimancial variable (such as an
equity or commodity price or index), or a non-ficet variable that is not
specific to a party to the contract. Furthermahet requirement also applies if
the holder’s ability to exercise a put option osttaurrender option is triggered
by a change in such a variable (for example, aption that can be exercised if a
stock market index reaches a specified level).
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234
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Paragraph 2.2.2 applies equally to optionsuwender a financial instrument
containing a discretionary participation feature.

Some life insurance contracts contain botlsmrance component andlaposit
component In some cases, an insurer is permittedrioundlethose components.

Unbundling is permitted if the insurer can suga the deposit component
separately.

If a life insurer cannot measure the depmsitponent separately, an insurer shall
not unbundle the deposit component.

To unbundle a life insurance contract, aifiurer:

(@) treats the insurance component as an insuremagact in accordance
with this Appendix;

(b) subject to (c), treats the deposit componerdarainvestment contract in
accordance with this Appendix; and

(c) where the deposit component includes a discratio participation
feature, treats this component as a separate m=irgontract in
accordance with this Appendix.

Purpose of Appendix

3.1

The purpose of this Appendix is to:
(a) prescribe the methods to be used for reportingy life insurers; and

(b) require disclosures by life insurers in the fimncial statements.

Entity and Consolidation Issues

4.1

41.1

The life insurer entity

A life insurer shall recognise in its financialktatement the assets, liabilities,
income, expenses and equity of the entity, whethéhey are designated as
relating to policyholdersor to shareholders.

Life insurers may have both policyholders amdreholders with a financial
interest in the entity. It is sometimes argued tha interests of policyholders
and the interests of shareholders form the baseemdrate entities that should
prepare separate primary financial statements. Hemvéve view adopted in this
Appendix is that the interests of policyholders ahdreholders are intertwined
and form the basis of a single entity. The bouiedaof this entity are defined by
control. The directors of the life insurer, in puing its objectives, govern the
decision-making in relation to the financial andering policies of the life
insurer, which includes the assets of the entity,thdrethey are designated as
relating to policyholders or to shareholders.
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4.1.2

4.2

42.1

4.2.2

Equity in a shareholder-owned life insurer wgénerally comprise only
shareholder equity. Although participants in thdustry commonly refer to
“policyholder retained profits”, such amounts arevested policyholder benefits
liabilities. A life insurer will only have policyhder equity if that life insurer has
foreign life insurance operations in a jurisdictithrat permits retained profits to
remain unallocated between policyholders and shatersy and the
policyholders’ component has yet to be determined.

Financial statements of groups that include a life
insurer subsidiary

The consolidated financial statement of a groufhat includes a life insurer
subsidiary shall recognise all of the assets, lidhies, income and expenses of
that subsidiary, whether they are designated as rating to the policyholders
or to the shareholders of that life insurer. The msurance contracts,
investment contracts, assets and other financialdbilities of a life insurer
subsidiary and its group recognised in the consolated financial statement
of a group shall be measured in accordance with thiAppendix.

For the same reasons that a life insuretyeigticonsidered to comprise both
policyholder and shareholder interests, the viewptatbin this Appendix is that
the parent entity controls the interests of botlicgbolders and shareholders and,
accordingly, the consolidated financial statemesftehe group include all of
those interests. The parent of a life insureratiffely uses all of the resources of
shareholders and policyholders in achieving itecliyes and effectively controls
policyholder interests for the benefit of both pghiolders and shareholders.

Some life insurers are subsidiaries of astibther than life insurers, such as
banks, and some are subsidiaries of other lifergrsu The character of the

parent entity of a life insurer has no bearing oretivar consolidated financial

statements, prepared in accordance with paragraplar. required.

Premiums and Claims

51

5.2

521

Subject to paragraph 5.2, insurance componentsf insurance contract
premiums are income and insurance components of ingence contract

claims are expenses and shall be recognised sepatgtin profit or loss.

Deposit components of insurance contract premiums ar not income and
deposit components of insurance contract claims aneot expenses and shall
be recognised as changes in insurance liabilities.

For insurance contracts where unbundling of thedeposit component is
prohibited under paragraph 2.3.3, premiums shall berecognised as income
and claims shall be recognised as expenses.

A wide variety of products are offered by lifesurers — risk or insurance
products, investment products and numerous hyboidshese two products.
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There will be hybrid products that fall within theope of this Appendix that have
both deposit and insurance components.

5.2.2 Premiums may comprise amounts that:
(a) give rise to income that is earned by providsggvices, including the
bearing of risks; and
(b) are akin to deposits and which qualify for ratitign as liabilities.
5.2.3 Similarly, claims may comprise amounts that:
(a) give rise to expenses that are incurred inighog services, including the
bearing of risks; and
(b) are akin to withdrawals from deposits and whichlify for recognition as
reductions in liabilities.

5.2.4 The performance of a life insurer is bestentéd when only income and
expenses are recognised in profit or loss. Thiisin of other types of cash
flows limits the ability of users to assess the @enfance of a life insurer's
operations relative to other entities or investraent

Reinsurance

Reporting by cedants

6.1 Acedantshall recognise:

(a) premiums ceded taeinsurersas reinsurance expenses;
(b) claim recoveries and commissions from reinsuraras income; and

(c) claim recoveries and other inflows not yet re¢eed from a reinsurer
as an asset.

6.1.1 Life insurers may reinsure some of their fess. The cedant remains responsible
for the total amount of successful claims of pdiwigers and, through reinsurance
arrangements, may be entitled to recover amoulatsngto some of those claims.

6.1.2 Reinsurance contracte considered to be separate transactions frerartginal
life insurance contracts and therefore give rise s&parately recognisable
amounts. The cedant recognises the gross amoupteafiums received in
accordance with paragraphs 5.1 and 5.2 and, whet®moof the policies are
reinsured, the ceded premiums are recognised ansap (except where they
would otherwise be recognised as deposits, if notsueed). Any recoveries
from reinsurers are recognised as income by thartg@xcept for any amounts
representing the return of deposits). Consistemh Wiis approach, the gross
amount of life insurance liabilities is recognisesia liability and claim recoveries
not yet received from a reinsurer are recognisesiraseivable by the cedant.
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6.2

6.2.1

Reporting by reinsurers

Inwards reinsurance premiums and outwards reingrance claims shall be
recognised by the accepting reinsurer as for premms and claims in
accordance with paragraphs 5.1 and 5.2. Life insance liabilities assumed
shall be recognised as a liability by the acceptingeinsurer in accordance
with section 8.

From the perspective of the reinsurer, rearste premiums accepted are
recognised in the same way as the cedant treatsteptance of premiums under
adirect insurance contract Correspondingly, claims paid and payable toafire
insurers are recognised as expenses by the reinsuCensistent with these
treatments, life insurance liabilities assumed rasognised as a liability by the
accepting reinsurer.

Impairment of Reinsurance Assets

7.1.1

If a cedant’s reinsurance asset is impaitteel,cedant shall reduce its carrying
amount accordingly and recognise that impairmentpiofit or loss. A
reinsurance asset is impaired if, and only if:

(@) there is objective evidence, as a result ofeaent that occurred after
initial recognition of the reinsurance asset, thatcedant may not receive
amounts due to it under the terms of the conteaud;

(b) that event has a reliably measurable impadheramounts that the cedant
will receive from the reinsurer.

Life Insurance Liabilities

8.1

Present value and best estimates

Obligations arising from life insurance contrats (life insurance liabilities)
shall be recognised as liabilities and shall be meared at the end of each
reporting period as:

(a) the net present value of future receipts from @d payments to
policyholders, including participating benefits, alowing for the
possibility of discontinuance before the end of ingance contract
periods, plus planned margins of revenues over expses relating to
services yet to be provided to policyholders, on # basis of
assumptions that are best estimates and using a d@nt rate
determined in accordance with paragraphs 8.7 or 8;&r

(b)  the accumulated benefits to policyholders afterallowing for the
portion of acquisition costs expected to be recoudewhere the result
would not be materially different from the application of
paragraph 8.1(a).
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The participating benefits component of lifesurance liabilities includes
previously vested benefits and future supportaldeubes. In addition to life

insurance liabilities, there may be other liakgktithat relate to participating
policyholders. Insurance contract benefits attdble to participating

policyholders that are not yet vested with spegifiticyholders are recognised as
liabilities. These are further discussed in secfio

Premiums are generally received in advancehef provision of services to
policyholders, including the payment of claims. return for premiums, life
insurers provide services sometimes over long gsrio Entering into a life
insurance contract is considered to be the evexttdives rise to future benefits
and present obligations under a policy.

Where there are a number of variables rgjatin future uncertainties, a net
present value approach to measuring life insurdiabdities is likely to provide
the most appropriate measurement basis. The tibligaunder these more
complex contracts are generally measured as treemreralue of the expected
inflows, such as premiums and fees, and outflowsh @ag claims and other
expenses, based on assumptions relating to wholelgimms of policyholders,
and taking into account applicable taxation.

An accumulation approach involves accruingedhgtlements in policyholders’
records at the end of the reporting period. Iffies expected to be charged by
the life insurer to the policyholder in each futueporting period are expected to
equal or exceed any expenses incurred by the fiderér, thelife insurance
liability calculated under the accumulation approach would beo materially
different from that obtained using the approacharagraph 8.1(a).

The ultimate cost of meeting claims under yrida insurance contracts depends
on the frequency of occurrence of particular futerents such as death and
surrender, and in some cases may depend upon fattters such as the future
levels of investment returns. Assumptions needetarfade about these future
events. In order to ensure that life insuranchilltees are measured reliably,

such assumptions need to be “best estimates”.

Best estimate assumptions used in determthigresent value of life insurance
liabilities, such as the best estimate of the boates are made on the basis of the
assets available to the life insurer at the repgrtiate and do not include any
allowance for future contributions by owners and othends which may be
provided in the future to support the business.

Acquisition costs

Life insurance contracts written in one repgrperiod often give rise to benefits to

the life insurer in subsequent reporting periodshsas future management fees and
surrender penalties. Therefore, there are futenefits associated with the costs of
acquiring life insurance contracts, and such crgoften substantial.

In the life insurance indust@cquisition costare usually recognised as expenses
in the reporting period in which they are incurretihis is generally offset by
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8.2

8.2.1

8.2.2

8.3

8.3.1

8.3.2

identifying a portion of the planned margins inaddn life insurance liabilities

as relating to the recovery of acquisition cosiEhe most useful and reliable
information available about the acquisition cogdtattwill give rise to future

economic benefits is the amount of future charges€quisition costs identified
as part of the process of determining life insuedifabilities.

Recognition of planned margins as revenues

Planned margins of revenues over expenses fdelinsurance contracts shall
be recognised in profit or loss over the reportingoeriods during which the
services to which those margins relate are providetb policyholders, and the
revenues relating to those services are received.

In setting premium rates, life insurers wiltlude planned margins of revenues
over expenses. As noted in paragraph 8.1.2, presnarm generally received in
advance of the provision of services to policyhade

In this Appendix, planned margins are recaghis profit or loss when, and only
when, the life insurer has performed the serviceessary to establish a valid
claim to those margins and has received the rewerelating to those services.
To ensure that planned margins are recognised gldhi@ reporting period in
which the relevant services are provided, life iasge liabilities include a
component relating to those margins. These maagmshen “released” based on
one or more factors or “profit carriers” which capend to the performance of
services and the earning of the margins. In @iatd many products, the profit
carrier might be premiums or claims.

Differences between actual and assumed
experience

Except in relation to investment earnings ratassumptions for participating
business, the effect of changes in life insurancabilities resulting from a
difference between actual and assumed experiencetelenined during the
reporting period shall be recognised in profit or bss as income or expenses in
the reporting period in which the changes occur.

The assumed patterns and frequencies of evesed in determining life
insurance liabilities are compared with actual eventeach reporting period to
assess their accuracy. The effects of differefed®een actual and assumed
experience represent decreases or increases inexpected payments to
policyholders and are income or expenses of thertieg period in which the
differences occur. For example, where the assumgid of death claims under a
renewable term life product line are greater thanabtual costs for a reporting
period, income equal to the difference is recoghise profit or loss for the
current reporting period.

The recognition of the net amount of changdi$e insurance liabilities resulting
from a difference between actual and assumed experiglentified during the
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reporting period as income or an expense is camiswith the use of
assumptions that are best estimates as at thef @adloreporting period.

Changes to underlying assumptions

Assumptions used for measuring life insurancedbilities shall be reviewed
for each reporting period. Where the review leadsto changes in
assumptions, with the exception of new business, ehchanges shall be
deemed to occur at the end of the reporting period.

Assumptions used for measuring new businessbealeemed to have occurred
at the beginning of the reporting period, or at da¢e of commencement of the
new business or at the end of the reporting period.

In preparing interim financial statementsg #nd of the reporting period is the
interim reporting date. Accordingly, changes inuasgtions are deemed to occur
at the interim reporting date.

The financial effects of changes to the assunmts underlying the
measurement of life insurance liabilities made durig the reporting period
shall be recognised in profit or loss over the futte reporting periods during
which services are provided to policyholders, exceéphat:

(a) any estimated excess of the present value ofdte expenses over the
present value of future revenues for a group of relted products
arising during the reporting period shall be recogrised as an expense
of the reporting period;

(b)  the reversal of an expense previously recognidén accordance with
paragraph 8.5(a) shall be recognised as income ohé reporting
period in which the reversal of the loss is recogsed;

(c) the effects of a change to adopted discount e and related economic
assumptions caused by changes in investment markand general
economic conditions shall be recognised as income expense of the
reporting period in which the change occurs; and

(d) material calculation errors and similar errors shall be treated under
NZ IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimatand
Errors.

The assumptions underlying the measuremeriifeofinsurance liabilities are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period. Bame past experience and
revised expectations about the future, it may bec@pparent that particular
assumptions are not consistent with likely futurgoezience and need to be
changed. Such changes are effectively a reassessinthe likely patterns and
frequencies of future events. The normal reviswinassumptions is not
considered to be an error.

Apart from the circumstances identified imagaaph 8.5, changes to underlying
assumptions are effectively recognised over futaporting periods by adjusting
the planned margins included in life insuranceiliigs. If the effect of a changed
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assumption is a decrease in the present value e$epr obligations to
policyholders, the planned margin is increasedthéf effect is an increase in the
present value of obligations to policyholders, pfemned margin is reduced. The
overall amount of life insurance liabilities is naffected by these changes to
underlying assumptions, as long as the plannedimafgevenues over expenses is
not eliminated.

8.5.3 Material calculation errors and similar esr@re treated in accordance with
NZ IAS 8. Under NZ IAS 8, except to the extent thaisitimpracticable to
determine either the period-specific effects or ¢henulative effect of the error,
an entity corrects material prior period errorsagpectively in the first financial
statement authorised for issue after their disgolagr

(a) restating the comparative amounts for the pperiod(s) presented in
which the error occurred; or

(b) if the error occurred before the earliest pperiod presented, restating
the opening balances of assets, liabilities andtgdor the earliest prior
period presented.

Changes to discount rates and related economic
assumptions

8.5.4 As with other assumptions, the discount rateksralated economic assumptions
used in determining life insurance liabilities amviewed at the end of each
reporting period. The effects of a change to asbmliscount rates and related
economic assumptions caused by changes in investmarket and economic
conditions are recognised in the reporting penodtich the change is made. For
a life insurer with a typical spread of investmeiftsnarket yields fall, investment
values generally rise and the resulting increas@s/estment values are recognised
as income in the reporting period in which theyuscdWhere the discount rates are
adjusted in line with such falls in market ratéfg Insurance liabilities for such
contracts will increase and an expense will begeised, having an offsetting (but
not usually matching) effect on the increased itaest values.

8.5.5 In relation to participating business (whishliscussed in section 9), the effect of

a change to the assumptions about discount ratgiimed in paragraph 8.5.4, is
a result of adjusting the best estimate of lifaumasice liabilities, including future
participating benefits. For example, if marketesabf return rise, investment
values generally fall and the resulting decreasesinvestment values are
recognised as an expense in the reporting periachioh they occur. The fall in
investment values will clearly impact on the abilitiythe life insurer to support
future participating benefits. These are likelyb reduced, with an offsetting
effect on the reduced investment values.
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Liability adequacy test

Life insurers shall perform a liability adequag test.

Situations may arise where the present vdlukeoplanned margin of revenues
over expenses for a group of related products véllabjusted as a result of
changing underlying assumptions to the extent that planned margin is
eliminated and becomes a planned loss. Thatreyiew of expected future cash
flows indicates that the present value of estiméuéure expenses for a group of
related products exceeds the present value of &stthfuture revenues. In such
circumstances, the excess of the present valugpeEnses over revenues arising
during the reporting period is recognised in profitloss in the reporting period
in which the assessment is made. The loss reféetiigher present obligation
due to adverse future experience, which is now eggeit future years. While
the future cash flows giving rise to the loss aré tgeoccur, this treatment is
justified on the basis that entering into life irece contracts is an event that
gives rise to a present obligation to meet the ebgukfuture claims.

A group of related products, for the purpokeabculating the planned margin,
performing the liability adequacy test and for thsare, would be products that
have substantially the same contractual terms aadpeced on the basis of
substantially the same assumptions.

In reviewing expected future cash flows, thsuiar takes into account both
future cash flows under insurance contracts it hemued and the related
reinsurance contracts.

Where an intangible asset has arisen undagmh 13.1.1(b), a loss arises
when the present value of planned margins of resgraver expenses is less
than the related intangible asset. This test ibdoperformed for groups of
related products and the intangible asset is aém;aon a reasonable basis,
across these groups. Any loss is recognised &xpense in profit or loss. In
recognising the loss in profit or loss, the lifesumer first writes down the
related intangible asset and then reflects anytmddil liability in the life
insurance liabilities.

Discount rates

To the extent that the benefits under life insance contracts are not
contractually linked to the performance of the asss held, the life insurance
liabilities shall be discounted for the time valueof money using risk-free
discount rates based on current observable, objeet rates that relate to the
nature, structure and term of the future obligations.

To the extent that the benefits under a life Burance contract are
contractually linked to the performance of the asss held, the life insurance
liabilities shall be discounted using discount rate based on the market
returns on assets backing life insurance liabilitis.
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8.8.1 In applying paragraph 8.7, the discountsraiopted are not intended to reflect
risks inherent in the liability cash flows, which rigbe allowed for by a
reduction in the discount rate in a fair value noeasient, nor are they intended
to reflect the insurance and other non-financiitgiand uncertainties reflected in
the life insurance liabilities. The discount rai® not intended to include
allowance for the cost of any options or guaranteasare separately measured
as part of the life insurance liabilities.

8.8.2 In applying paragraph 8.7, typically, goveemnbond rates may be appropriate
discount rates for the purposes of this Appendixhey may be an appropriate
starting point in determining such discount rates.

Financial instruments with discretionary
participation features

8.9 Financial instruments with discretionary participation features are life

insurance contracts for the purposes of this Appendiand shall be treated in
accordance with paragraphs 8.1 to 8.8 and section 9

Participating Benefits

9.1 Except for transfers from unvested policyholder benefits liabilities,
participating benefits vested in policyholders in elation to the reporting
period shall be recognised in profit or loss as exmses for the reporting
period. Such benefits which remain payable as até end of the reporting
period shall be recognised as a component of lifedurance liabilities.

9.2 Participating benefits that have been allocateih relation to the reporting
period to participating policyholders generally, bu that have not yet vested
in specific policyholders, shall be recognised axgenses for the reporting
period. Amounts that have been allocated to partipating policyholders
generally, but that have not vested in specific pwyholders as at the end of
the reporting period, shall be recognised as unvesd policyholder benefits
liabilities.

9.2.1 Some life insurers sell participating busiedParticipating policyholders are
generally eligible to receive the same types offfienhas other policyholders and,
in addition, are entitled to participate in the fiieo relating to participating
business. For example, a participating policyholdeay receive a low
contractually determined rate of return on saviegether with term life cover and,
in addition, receive benefits that depend on tiestment performance of the pool
of assets associated with participating policied am the risk experience of
participating policyholders. These additional Hi#sere often called bonuses and
are at the discretion of the life insurer. In sompgorting periods the life insurer
may withhold a portion of the “profits” from the gloof participating business and
recognise these “profits” as unvested policyholdenefits liabilities. In other
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reporting periods the life insurer may “top up” thested benefits to participating
policyholders. Such vesting of benefits is oftemel to provide a reasonably level
vesting of benefits over time, despite volatilitygeriodic profits from participating

business.

It is sometimes argued that the discretionaure of participating benefits
means that they should be treated as appropriatibpsofit in the same way as
dividends to shareholders. Because life insurdiabdities relating to all types
of policyholders are recognised as liabilitiedsiappropriate for the participating
benefits vested in relation to the reporting periother than transfers from
unvested policyholder benefits liabilities, to tecagnised as expenses of the
reporting period.

Mutual life insurers are effectively owned Hyeir policyholder members.
Nevertheless, the mutual life insurer also has abibgs to its policyholders.
These obligations are classified as policy liakeiit Benefits vested in a mutual
life insurer's policyholders, other than transfdrem unvested policyholder
benefits liabilities, are also to be recognise@xzenses in the reporting period in
which they are vested.

For financial reporting purposes, participgtbenefits vested in policyholders in
a reporting period but not yet paid are includetifeinsurance liabilities and are
measured at net present values. In the case e§timent account participating
business this may be approximately the same aarttoeint actually allocated to
policyholder accounts. In the case of traditigmeatticipating business, there may
be a significant difference between the net pregelte and the face value of the
amount vested in policyholders. The net presehteves relevant for financial
reporting purposes because it is the best estipfatee net present value of the
amount that the life insurer expects to pay outhia future using information
based on experience up to the end of the repgoenigd.

Where a life insurer “tops up” the vesteddfiem from previously recognised
unvested policyholder benefits liabilities, a tr@ns between liabilities is
recognised. If a life insurer tops up the vestezhdiits for participating
policyholders other than from unvested policyholdmmefits liabilities, the
amount of the “top up” is recognised as an expegisthe reporting period in
which the additional benefits are vested.

Assets Backing Life Insurance Liabilities or Life
Investment Contract Liabilities

10.1.1

Fair value approach

Paragraphs 10.2 to 10.7.3 address the nesasaor of certain assets backing life
insurance liabilities ofife investment contradiabilities. The fair value approach
to the measurement of assets backing life insuréabgities or life investment
contract liabilities is consistent with the presealue measurement approach for
life insurance liabilities required by this Appendimd the fair value
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10.2

10.2.1

10.2.2

measurement approach for life investment contriadtilities required by this
Appendix. Where assets are not backing life insteatabilities or life

investment contract liabilities, life insurers apphe applicable New Zealand
equivalents to IFRSs, making use of any measureohaites available.

Measurement

Financial assetghat:

(a) are within the scope of NZ IAS 39;
(b) back life insurance liabilities or life investrment contract liabilities; and

(c) are permitted to be designated as “at fair vale through profit or
loss” under NZ IAS 39;

shall be designated as “at fair value through profior loss” under NZ IAS 39
on first application of this Appendix or on initial recognition.

An insurer applies NZ IAS 39 to its financialsets. Under NZIAS 39 a
financial asset at fair value through profit ordds a financial asset that meets
either of the following conditions:

(@) it is classified as held for trading, or

(b) it is designated as “at fair value through ftrafr loss” upon initial
recognition. An entity may use this designation wtten financial asset
is a contract with an embedded derivative and papigrllA of
NZ IAS 39 allows the entity to measure the contract‘@sfair value
through profit or loss”; or when doing so results nimore relevant
information, because either:

0] it eliminates or significantly reduces a measaent or recognition
inconsistency (sometimes referred to as an “acemymismatch”)
that would otherwise arise from measuring assethkabilities or
recognising the gains and losses on them on diffé&@ses; or

(ii) a group of financial assets, financial liabéds or both is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair valusishain
accordance with a documented risk management ostimest
strategy, and information about the group is pregichternally on
that basis to the entity’s key management persofasetiefined in
NZ IAS 24 Related Party Disclosurgsfor example, the entity’s
board of directors and chief executive officer.

NZ IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of New Zealand Equivalents tdetnational
Financial Reporting Standardsermits entities to designate financial assetaas
fair value through profit or loss” on first applt@an of the Standard.

The view adopted in this Appendix is thatall but rare cases, financial assets
within the scope of NZ IAS 39 that back life insuca liabilities or life investment
contract liabilities are permitted to be measurefhia value through profit or loss
under NZ IAS 39. This is because the measuremiefitecinsurance liabilities
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under this Appendix incorporates current informatand measuring the financial
assets backing these life insurance liabilitiegiatvalue eliminates or significantly

reduces a potential measurement inconsistency wiochd arise if the assets were
classified as available for sale or measured atrt#sad cost. In addition, under
NZ IAS 39, a group of financial assets may be degigd as at fair value through
profit or loss where it is both managed and itfguerance is evaluated on a fair
value basis, in accordance with a documented riskagement or investment
strategy. In the vast majority of cases, finaneiséets backing life investment
contract liabilities and financial assets backiifig insurance liabilities would be

managed and their performance would be evaluated dair value basis, in

accordance with a documented risk management estment strategy.

Investment property that is within the scope fo NZ IAS 40 Investment
Property and that backs life insurance liabilities or lifeinvestment contract
liabilities, shall be measured at fair value undeNZ IAS 40.

Property, plant and equipment that is within he scope of NZIAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipmenand that backs life insurance liabilities or life
investment contract liabilities shall be measured sing the revaluation model
under NZ IAS 16.

An insurer applies NZ IAS 16 to its propertyanp and equipment. Under
NZ IAS 16 property includes owner-occupied propertyd goroperty being

constructed or developed for future use as invastnmroperty. Under

NZ IAS 16, the cost model, for measurement subsedoenitial recognition, is

to carry property, plant and equipment at cost. H@ueNZ IAS 16 has a
revaluation model: an entity, subsequent to initedognition, may carry its
property, plant and equipment assets at a revaloezlint, being its fair value at
the date of the revaluation less any subsequeninadated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Those property, plant and equipment asdeds are within the scope of
NZ IAS 16 and that the insurer considers back lifeurance liabilities or life
investment contract liabilities are measured udhmg revaluation model under
NZ IAS 16, that is, they are measured at fair valuth wicreases in fair value
credited directly to equity and decreases recognése an expense unless they
reverse a previous increase.

Investments in associates that:

(a) are defined by NZ IAS 28nvestments in Associates

(b) back either life insurance liabilities or life investment contract
liabilities;

(c) are held by mutual funds, unit trusts and simiar entities including
investment-linked insurance funds; and

(d) are permitted to be designated as at “fair vale through profit or
loss” under NZ IAS 39;

shall be designated as “at fair value through profior loss” under NZ IAS 39
on first application of this Appendix or on initial recognition.
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10.5.1

10.6

10.6.1

10.7

10.7.1

10.7.2

An insurer applies NZ IAS 28 to its investmeimsassociates. NZ IAS 28
requires investments in associates to be accodotesing the equity method but
it does not apply to investments in associates Iglshutual funds, unit trusts and
similar entities including investment-linked insoca funds that are treated under
NZ IAS 39 and designated as “at fair value througtfipor loss”.

Venturers’ interests in jointly controlled entties that:
(a) are defined by NZ IAS 3linterests in Joint Ventures

(b) back either life insurance liabilities or life investment contract
liabilities;

(c) are held by mutual funds, unit trusts and simiar entities including
investment-linked insurance funds; and

(d) are permitted to be designated as at “fair vale through profit or
loss” under NZ IAS 39;

shall be designated as “at fair value through profior loss” under NZ IAS 39
on first application of this Appendix or on initial recognition.

Entities apply NZ IAS 31 to interests in jowentures. NZ IAS 31 requires

investments in joint ventures to be proportionatelynsolidated or to be

accounted for using the equity method. However, NZ3ASloes not apply to

venturers’ interests in jointly controlled entitiesld by mutual funds, unit trusts
and similar entities including investment-linkedsumance funds that are treated
under NZ IAS 39 and designated as “at fair valueubhoprofit or loss”.

Separate financial statements

When preparing separate financial statementsthose investments in
subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and assdates that:

(a) are defined by NZIAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

(b) back life insurance liabilities or life investrrent contract liabilities; and

(c) are permitted to be designated as at “fair vale through profit or
loss” under NZ IAS 39;

shall be designated as “at fair value through profior loss” under NZ IAS 39
on first application of this Appendix or on initial recognition.

An insurer applies NZ IAS 27 to its investmentsubsidiaries, jointly controlled
entities and associates when preparing separataecfalastatements. Under
NZ IAS 27, in the parent's separate financial stat@sjethe investments in
subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and asstas can either be accounted for
at cost or in accordance with NZ IAS 39.

In the parent’s separate financial statesyeénvestments in subsidiaries, jointly
controlled entities and associates that are withénscope of NZ IAS 27 that the

© Copyright 62



10.7.3

NZ IFRS 4

insurer considers back life insurance liabilities lde investment contract
liabilities, and that are permitted to be desigdat fair value through profit or
loss” under NZ IAS 39, are designated as “at faiueahrough profit or loss”
under NZ IAS 39, on first application of this Appendix on initial recognition.

[Deleted by the FRSB]

Imputed Inflows and Outflows

111

1111

11.1.2

11.1.3

Subject to paragraph 18.3, a life insurer shhtecognise imputed inflows and
outflows as income and expenses when, and only whesuch imputed flows
relate to transactions with external entities.

Life insurers often impute inflows and owifs to different classes of policyholders
in order to help ensure that they are treated &ojyit For example, a life insurer
may own the buildings that it occupies. The furmdsa particular group of
policyholders are used to acquire and operate lsuitdings while a wider group of
policyholders and shareholders may benefit fromube of the buildings. In the
owner-occupied building example, the life insuraputes an inflow of rent income
to the policyholders whose funds are used to aequid operate the buildings and
imputes an outflow of rent cost to the other pdimigers and to shareholders.

In cases where there are no transactions exittrnal entities, such as with
owner-occupied buildings, the life insurer is degliwith itself. There is no
transaction or other past event that gives rissn¢ome or an expense. Any
inflows and outflows imputed for internal managemguirposes would be
eliminated in preparing external financial stateteeexcept in relation to the
disaggregated disclosures required by paragrapfisah@l 18.2.

In some cases, life insurers impute inflowd autflows where external entities
are involved. For example, life insurers oftendidands to their employees at
concessional rates of interest with the funds bphoygided by a particular group
of policyholders, while other policyholders and amareholders benefit from the
services provided by those employees. Becausenaktparties are involved,
such imputed inflows and outflows are recognisechesme and expenses when
they can be reliably measured.

Life Investment Contracts

121

1211

Life investment contract liabilities that arepermitted to be designated as at
“fair value through profit or loss” shall be designated as “at fair value through
profit or loss” under NZ IAS 39, on first application of this Appendix or on
initial recognition.

The view adopted in this Appendix is thatalinbut rare cases, life investment
contract liabilities within the scope of NZ IAS 39 agrermitted to be measured at
fair value through profit or loss under NZ IAS 39hiF is because, when a life
investment contract liability is backed by a finmh@sset measured at fair value
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12.1.2

through profit or loss, designating the life invasht contract liability at fair
value through profit or loss eliminates or sigrafitly reduces a potential
measurement inconsistency which would arise if ifee ihvestment contract
liability were measured at amortised cost. In addjtin the vast majority of
cases, life investment contract liabilities would eanaged and their
performance would be evaluated on a fair value basisccordance with a
documented risk management or investment strategy.

Some life investment contracts involve bdike origination of one or more
financial instruments and the provision of managanservices. Life investment
contract liabilities arise under the financial mshent element and are treated
under NZ IAS 39. The management services elemeptudimg associated
acquisition costs, is treated under NZ IASR&venugthis element may also give
rise to assets and liabilities.

Life Insurance Contracts Acquired in a Business
Combination or Portfolio Transfer

13.1.1

13.1.2

13.1.3

13.1.4

To comply with NZ IFRS Business Combinationsan insurer shall, at the
acquisition date, measure at fair value the instgalmbilities assumed and
insurance assets acquired in a business combinatidowever, an insurer is
permitted, but not required, to use an expandedeptation that splits the fair
value of acquired insurance contracts into two camepts:

(@) a liability measured in accordance with the iags accounting policies
for life insurance contracts that it issues; and

(b) an intangible asset, representing the diffexdretween

0] the fair value of the contractual insurancehtsy acquired and
insurance obligations assumed; and

(i)  the amount described in paragraph 13.1.1(a).

The subsequent measurement of this asset shall obeistent with the
measurement of the related life insurance liability

An insurer acquiring a portfolio of life imance contracts may use an expanded
presentation described in paragraph 13.1.1.

The intangible assets described in paragrapii.1 and 13.1.2 are excluded from
the scope of NZ IAS 3@mpairment of Assetand from the scope of NZ IAS 38
Intangible Assetsn respect of recognition and measurement. NZ IBS8d
NZ IAS 38 apply to customer lists and customer refethips reflecting the
expectation of future contracts that are not pathe contractual insurance rights
and contractual insurance obligations that existédhe date of a business
combination or portfolio transfer.

NZ IAS 38 includes disclosure requirement®iation to this intangible asset.
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Where a life insurer recognises an intaegislset under paragraph 13.1.1(b), this
intangible asset is considered when performingittislity adequacy test referred
to in paragraph 8.6.

Life Insurance Contracts Disclosure — Explanationo  f
Recognised Amounts

14.1

1411

14.1.2

14.1.3

A life insurer shall disclose information thatidentifies and explains the
amounts in its financial statements arising from fie insurance contracts.

To comply with paragraph 14.1, a life inswsteall disclose:

(@) its accounting policies for life insurance gaots and related assets,
liabilities, income and expense;

(b) the recognised assets, liabilities, incomeeesp and cash flows arising
from life insurance contracts. Furthermore, if tifie insurer is a cedant,
it shall disclose:

0] gains and losses recognised in profit or lastha time of buying
reinsurance; and

(ii) if the cedant defers and amortises gains arsdds arising at the
time of buying reinsurance, the amortisation fa geriod and the
amounts remaining unamortised at the beginning edl of the
period,;

(c) the process used to determine the assumptiandiave the greatest effect
on the measurement of the recognised amounts dedcin (b). When
practicable, a life insurer shall also give quaedfdisclosure of those
assumptions;

(d) the effect of changes in assumptions used tsore life insurance assets
and life insurance liabilities, showing separatély effect of each change
that has a material effect on the financial statgsend

(e) reconciliations of changes in life insuranesilities andeinsurance assets

When applying paragraph 14.1.1(b) and dsgp recognised income arising
from life insurance contracts, life insurers woulgrmally disclose income from
direct and reinsurance business. In accordancethétiprinciples embodied in
this Appendix, with the exception of premium revemeeognised in accordance
with paragraph 5.1, all revenues are recognisedimutbsed before the effects of
any transfers to or from life insurance liabilitieDisclosure of the effects of
transfers to and from life insurance liabilitiegégjuired by paragraph 14.1.1(e).

In accordance with the principles embodiethis Appendix, with the exception
of claims expense recognised in accordance withgpapa 5.1, all expenses are
recognised and disclosed before the effects of taaysfers to or from life
insurance liabilities. Disclosure of the effects tedinsfers to and from life
insurance liabilities is required by paragraph 14€).
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14.1.4 To disclose and explain the expenses arfsorg life insurance contracts, life
insurers would normally disclose:

@)
(b)

(©

outwards reinsurance expense;
operating expenses:
0] claims expense;

(ii) policy acquisition expenses, separated intdema components
including commission;

(i) policy maintenance expenses;

(iv)  investment management expenses; and

) other; and

the basis for the apportionment of operatingesmses between:

0] life insurance contract acquisition;

(ii) life insurance contract maintenance;

(i)  investment management expenses;

(iv) life investment contract acquisition;

(v) life investment contract maintenance; and
(vi)  other expenses.

14.1.5 When applying paragraph 14.1.1(c) and 1@} dnd disclosing the process used
to determine assumptions, quantified disclosurassumptions and the effect of
changes in assumptions, the life insurer would ntynshow the impact of
changes in assumptions on future profit margins kfiedinsurance liabilities.
The assumptions that would normally have the greatffect on the
measurement of recognised amounts described ignaata14.1.1(b) are:

@)
(b)
(©

(d)
(e)
0]
(9)
(h)
0]
0)

© Copyright

discount rates and inflation rates;
profit carriers used for each major productugro

future maintenance and investment managemepenses, the rate of
inflation applicable to them and any automatic iat®n of benefits and
premiums;

rates of taxation;

mortality and morbidity, by reference to theritity of the tables;
rates of discontinuance;

surrender values;

rates of growth of unit prices in respect oftdimked benefits;
rates of future supportable participating bésetind

the crediting policy adopted in determiningutg supportable participating
benefits.
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When applying paragraph 14.1.1(b) and disudp the recognised liabilities
arising from life insurance contracts, life inswrevould normally disclose the
following components of life insurance liabilities:

(@) future policy benefits, including participatibgnefits;
(b) balance of future expenses;

(c) planned margins of revenues over expenses;

(d) future charges for acquisition costs;

(e) balance of future revenues; and

)] other items, separated into material components

When a life insurer is presenting the dimates required by paragraphs 14.1.1(c)
and 14.1.1(d) the insurer determines the level extént of disclosure that is
appropriate having regard to its circumstancesthadjualitative characteristics
of financial statements under the New Zeal&n@meworkof understandability,
relevance, reliability and comparability.

The following revenues and related explanatghall be disclosed:

(@) premium revenue;
(b) inwards reinsurance revenues;
(c) investment revenue, showing separately revemune: f
0] equity securities;
(ii) debt securities;
(i) properties; and
(iv)  other; and
(d) other revenue.

Investment revenues are shown in four catgoand the amount in each
category would potentially include amounts receivadiounts receivable, and
realised and unrealised gains and losses relatitiget reporting period. So, for
example, the category “investment revenues fromitggsecurities” would
include dividends received and receivable relatingthe reporting period,
realised gains and losses from trading during épenting period and unrealised
gains and losses from holding equity securitiesnduthe reporting period.

The following assets shall be disclosetiénbroad order of their liquidity:
(@) investments, showing separately:
0] equity securities;
(ii) debt securities;
(i)  properties; and
(iv)  other, by major class where applicable;
(b) operating assets; and
(c) reinsurance recoveries receivable.
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14.1.11

14.1.12

14.1.13

The presentation of assets and liabiliiethe broad order of their liquidity is
considered to be relevant to emphasise the impaetah liquidity and solvency
for life insurers. The current/non-current preainh of assets and liabilities is
not considered to give rise to sufficiently usefiibrmation for users.

Disclosure about the different types of str®nts and investment revenues
provides users with information that assists themnderstanding the nature and
extent of the risks and returns associated withitivestments held by a life
insurer.  Accordingly, investments are shown in aasshat reflect their
underlying nature. For example, units held in @pprty trust are classified as a
property investment.

In the life insurance industry, unlike atfrdustries, acquisition costs are not
recognised as an asset because there is no retiglgure of the probable future
economic benefits that will arise from actual acijiois costs. In practice,
acquisition costs are usually recognised as exgeims¢he reporting period in
which they are incurred. This is generally offsgtideentifying a portion of the
planned margins included in policyholder liabilitias relating to the recovery of
acquisition costs. The most useful and reliabferination available about the
acquisition costs that will give rise to future eoorc benefits is the amount
of future charges for acquisition costs identifiad part of the process of
determining policyholder liabilities. Disclosure thfis amount is required under
paragraph 14.1.6(d).

Life insurance contracts disclosure — nature and ex tent
of risks arising from life insurance contracts

151

15.11

A life insurer shall disclose information thatenables users of its financial
report to evaluate the nature and extent of risks asing from life insurance
contracts.

To comply with paragraph 15.1, a life inswsteall disclose:

(@) its objectives, policies and processes for miagarisks arising from life
insurance contracts and the methods used to manage risks;

(b) information abouinsurance riskboth before and after risk mitigation by
reinsurance), including information about:

0] sensitivity to insurance risk (see paragraphl 13;
(ii) concentrations of insurance risk, includingdascription of how
management determines concentrations and a déseript the

shared characteristic that identifies each conagatr (e.g. type of
insured event, geographical area, or currency); and

(i)  actual claims compared with previous estimatg@®. claims
development). The disclosure about claims deveyrshall go
back to the period when the earliest material claiose for which
there is still uncertainty about the amount andrtgrof the claims
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payments, but need not go back more than ten yéalige insurer
need not disclose this information for claims foriegthuncertainty

about the amount and timing of claims paymentsyjscally
resolved within one year;

information about credit risk, liquidity risknd market risk that
paragraphs 31-42 of NZ IFRS 7 would require if the lInsurance
contracts were within the scope of NZ IFRS 7. However:

0] a life insurer need not provide the maturityabsis required by
paragraph 39(a) of NZ IFRS 7 if it discloses infotima about the
estimated timing of the net cash outflows resultiffgm
recognised life insurance liabilities instead. sTmhay take the
form of an analysis, by estimated timing, of the ocamts
recognised in the statement of financial positenmd

(i) if a life insurer uses an alternative methodchianage sensitivity to
market conditions, such as an embedded value éalysay use
that sensitivity analysis to meet the requiremergaragraph 40(a)
of NZ IFRS 7. Such an insurer shall also provide disclosures
required by paragraph 41 of NZ IFRS @nd

information about exposures to market risk iagsfrom embedded
derivatives contained in a host life insurance @mitif the life insurer is

not required to, and does not, measure the embedieldehtives at fair
value.

The claims development disclosure requirgdparagraph 15.1.1(b)(iii) only
applies to classes of business where claims aréypiatlly resolved within one

year.

For many life insurance products this disete would not normally be

required. Furthermore, claims development disagl®smould not normally be
needed for annuity contracts, for example, becaasé periodic payment arises,
in effect, from a separate claim about which themo uncertainty.

To comply with paragraph 15.1.1(b)(i), a lifieurer shall disclose either (a) or
(b) as follows:

@)

a sensitivity analysis that shows how profitass and equity would have
been affected had changes in the relevant riskablari that were

reasonably possible at the end of the reportingogeoccurred; the

methods and assumptions used in preparing thetiségsanalysis; and

any changes from the previous period in the methards assumptions
used. However, if a life insurer uses an altereativethod to manage
sensitivity to market conditions, such as an embddenlue analysis, it
may meet this requirement by disclosing that attBve sensitivity

analysis and the disclosures required by paragtapsf NZ IFRS 7; and

Qualifying entities applying NZ IFRS 4 shall compm full with any requirements of NZ IFRS 7 which
are referred to in NZ IFRS 4.
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(b) gualitative information about sensitivity, aimflormation about those terms

and conditions of life insurance contracts thatehavmaterial effect on the
amount, timing and uncertainty of the life insusdtiture cash flows.

Other Disclosures Relating to Life Insurance Contra  cts

16.1

16.1.1

16.2

16.2.1

Where any premiums and any claims are separateinto their revenue,
expense and change in liability components in acadance with
paragraph 5.1, total premiums and total claims shalbe disclosed.

The mix of products written by a life insuseill vary between life insurers.
Comparability between life insurers is enhanced hg disclosure of total
premiums and total claims.

Where a profit is recognised at the inceptiorof a group of policies, the
revenues and expenses associated with that group refated products shall
be disclosed in the reporting period in which thos@olicies were written.

It is expected that profit will be recognissidthe inception of a policy only on
rare occasions. It is considered that this prefiuld be so infrequent that it
should be disclosed.

Disclosures Relating to Life Insurance Contracts an d
Life Investment Contracts

171

17.2

Financial Performance

The following components of profit or loss shlabe shown, separated
between policyholder and shareholder interests:

(a) profit related to movement in life insurance labilities;

(b) profit related to movement in life investment ontract liabilities and
movement in assets or liabilities arising in respeof the management
services element of life investment contracts;

(c) investment earnings on assets in excess of pylliabilities; and
(d) other items, separated into material components

The following components of profit related tamovements in life insurance
liabilities, life investment contract liabilities and assets or liabilities arising in
respect of the management services element of lifevestment contracts shall
be shown:

(@) planned margins of revenues over expenses;
(b)  the difference between actual and assumed expence;
(c) the effects of changes to underlying assumptisn
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(d) loss recognition on groups of related productsor reversal of
previously recognised losses required by paragrap®.6; and

(e) other movements, separated into material compemts.

Restrictions on assets

17.3

17.3.1

17.4

174.1

17.5

1751

17.5.2

Restrictions attaching to assets held for theehefit of policyholders shall be
disclosed.

There are a number of restrictions on tleeafisassets invested for policyholders
in life funds. It is important that these resioas be disclosed so that users of
the financial report can assess their impact.

Guaranteed or assured returns of funds invested

A life insurer shall separately disclose:

(a) in respect of contracts with discretionary paricipation features, the
amount of policy liabilities that relates to theguaranteed element

(b) in respect of investment-linked contracts, theamount of policy
liabilities subject to investment performance guaratees; and

(c) in respect of any other contracts not addresseih (a) or (b) with a
fixed or guaranteed termination value, the amount bthe current
termination values.

Many life insurers issue contracts that jplevsome form of guarantee or
assurance about the return of funds investeds uséful for users of life insurers’
financial statements to have information aboutektent of such guarantees or
assurances, since they involve the life insureribganvestment risks on behalf
of policyholders.

Equity

The following components of equity shall be sitlosed:
(a) retained profits wholly attributable to sharehdders; and

(b) retained profits where the allocation between articipating
policyholders, or participating holders of investmet contracts and
shareholders cannot be determined.

Information about the different componenfsretained profits is useful in
meeting the accountability obligations of the lifisurer for the whole business
and in showing the relative positions of the mafeksholders.

A life insurer that has issued participatliig insurance business may have
“retained profits” generated from that businessheSe “retained profits” are
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liabilities which are disclosed separately from ipgholders’ liabilities in
accordance with paragraph 14.1.6. In foreign lifgurance operations, retained
profits may exist which have yet to be allocatedwieein policyholders and
shareholders. Such retained profits should beratga disclosed.

17.5.3  Where, in foreign life operations, “retalngrofits” exist, which have yet to be
allocated and which are treated as equity, the émsapplies paragraphs 17.5.4
and 17.5.5 to this participating business writteridsgign life operations.

17.5.4  Where a life insurance contract with a @isonary participation feature is issued
by a foreign life operation, the issuer of sucloatract:

@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

© Copyright

may, but need not, recognise the guaranteedeeleseparately from the
discretionary participation feature. If the issdees not recognise them
separately, it classifies the whole contract asahility. If the issuer
classifies them separately, it classifies the gueed element as a
liability;

shall, if it recognises the discretionary peiptation feature separately
from the guaranteed element, classify that feaaisreither a liability or
a separate component of equity. This Appendix duEsspecify how
the issuer determines whether that feature is alitialor equity. The
issuer may split that feature into liability andug@g components and
shall use a consistent accounting policy for th@it.s The issuer shall
not classify that feature as an intermediate catedbat is neither
liability nor equity;

may recognise all premiums received as revemitleout separating any
portion that relates to the equity component. fselting changes in the
guaranteed element and in the portion of the discrary participation

feature classified as a liability shall be recogdisn profit or loss. If part
of the entire discretionary participation featuseclassified in equity, a
portion of profit or loss may be attributable tatleature (in the same
way that a portion may be attributable to non-cdlitig interests). The
issuer shall recognise the portion of profit oslastributable to any equity
component of a discretionary participation featase an allocation of
profit or loss, not as expense or income (see NZ1ABesentation of

Financial Statemenjs

shall, if the contract contains an embeddedvdive within the scope of
NZ IAS 39, apply NZ IAS 39 to that embedded derivataed

shall, in all respects not described in pamgigsal4 to 20 of NZ IFRS 4
and paragraphs 34(a) to (d) of NZ IFRS 4, contitsiexisting accounting
policies for such contracts, unless it changesetla@sounting policies in a
way that complies with paragraphs 21 to 30 of NZ IERS

72



1755

17.8

17.9

17.10
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The requirements in paragraph 17.5.4 algdydp a life investment contract
issued by a foreign life insurer that contains scditionary participation feature.
In addition:

(a) if the issuer classifies the entire discretignparticipation feature as a
liability, it shall apply the liability adequacystin paragraph 8.6 to the
whole contract (ie both the guaranteed element &eddiscretionary
participation feature). The issuer need not ddtegnthe amount that
would result from applying NZ IAS 39 to the guaradteéement;

(b) if the issuer classifies part or that entiratfge as a separate component of
equity, the liability recognised for the whole c@utt shall not be less than
the amount that would result from applying NZ IAS 8Xtie guaranteed
element. That amount shall include the intrinsidue of an option to
surrender the contract, but need not include it®etivalue if
paragraph 2.2.2 exempts that option from measureaidair value. The
issuer need not disclose the amount that would trédsuin applying
NZ IAS 39 to the guaranteed element, nor need iteptethat amount
separately. Furthermore, the issuer need notrditerthat amount if the
total liability recognised is clearly higher; and

(c) although these contracts contain financialrimsents, the issuer may
continue to recognise the premiums for those cotgras revenue and
recognise as an expense the resulting increadeeinarrying amount of
the liability, subject to the requirements of paeguns 5.1 and 5.2.

Solvency information

A life insurer shall disclose the amount of edy retained as solvency
reserves and the basis of establishing the amoun# group shall disclose the
solvency position of each life insurer in the group

Managed funds and other fiduciary activities

The nature and amount of the life insurer's atvities relating to managed
funds and trust activities, and whether arrangemerg exist to ensure that
such activities are managed independently from itether activities, shall be
disclosed.

Actuarial information

The following shall be disclosed in notes:

(a) if other than the end of the reporting period,the effective date of the
actuarial report on policyholder liabilities and sdvency reserves;

(b)  the name and qualifications of the actuary;
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17.11

17.12.1
17.13.1

17.13.2

17.14

(c) whether the amount of solvency reserves disclasé accordance with
paragraph 17.8 has been determined in accordance withe standards
and guidelines of the New Zealand Society of Actuas (Inc);

(d)  whether the actuary is satisfied as to the accacy of the data from
which the amount of policy liabilities has been detrmined; and

(e) any qualifications contained in the actuarial eport.

Assets backing life insurance liabilities or life
investment contract liabilities

An insurer shall disclose the process usedetermine which assets back life
insurance liabilities and life investment contréaiilities.

Other disclosures

[Not Used]

This Appendix addresses disclosure requinesmim relation to life insurance
contracts and certain disclosure requirements Iatioe to life investment
contracts. Other New Zealand standards may be reldgan life insurer's
financial report. In particular, the disclosurguaements in NZ IFRS 7 would
normally be relevant to life insurers.

This Appendix requires minimum disclosunes # is likely that, in many cases,
more extensive disclosures would be appropriater eikample, in relation to
investment properties it may be useful to disclesparately the extent of
holdings in the commercial/retail, industrial, rusad residential sectors.

A summary of the key assumptions used in detaming policyholder
liabilities shall be disclosed for each group of fated products in notes to the
financial statements, including:

(a) discount rates, asset mix and inflation rates;
(b) profit carriers used for each major product group;

(c) future maintenance and investment management pgnses, the rate of
inflation applicable to them and any automatic indeation of benefits
and premiums;

(d) rates of taxation;

(e) mortality and morbidity, by reference to the icentity of the tables;
® rates of discontinuance;

(9) the basis of calculating surrender values;

(h) rates of growth of unit prices in respect of uit-linked benefits;

0] rates of future supportable participating benefts; and

© Copyright 74



NZ IFRS 4

0] the crediting policy adopted in determining future supportable
participating benefits and how it compares with thelife insurer’s
actual practice.

Disaggregated Information

18.1

18.2

18.2.1

18.2.2

Investment-linked and non-investment-linked
business

This Appendix requires disclosure of disaggretied information as between

those amounts relating to investment-linked businssand those relating to

non-investment-linked business. The following mudte disclosed:

(a) investment assets

(b) other assets

(c) policy liabilities

(d) liabilities other than policy liabilities

(e) retained profits, showing the amount directly #ributable to
shareholders and other retained profits

® premium revenue

(9) investment revenue

(h) claims expense

0] other operating expenses

0] investment revenues paid or allocated to polidyolders

(k) operating surplus (deficit) before tax

0] operating surplus (deficit) after tax.

A life insurer shall disclose the information equired by paragraphs 18.1(a)

to 18.1(l) disaggregated between those amounts refey to investment-linked
business and those relating to non-investment-linkebusiness.

The risks and potential rewards for a lifsuner differ substantially between
investment-linked business and non-investment-tinkeisiness. Accordingly,

disaggregated information about these is considerds useful in assessing the
performance and financial position of a life insur@he information required by

paragraph 18.2 is for the entity’s life insuranassibess as a whole; it is not
required for each life fund.

[Deleted by FRSB]
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18.3

18.3.1

18.4

Imputed inflows and outflows

Disclosures required by paragraphs 18.1 and ZBshall include all imputed
inflows and outflows as income and expenses wherbey can be reliably
measured.

As discussed in paragraph 11.1.1, life imsuséien impute inflows and outflows
to different classes of policyholders and sharedrsido help ensure that they are
treated equitably. Whereas, in relation to théestent of comprehensive income
and the statement of financial position, paragripi only permits the
recognition of imputed inflows and outflows relatitegtransactions with external
parties, paragraph 18.3 requires all imputed inflawd outflows to be included
in the disaggregated information to reflect thefgrenance of each segment of
the life insurer.

Policyholder credit account

The notes to the financial statements shall stilose the movements in, and
balance of, the Policyholder Credit Account.

Transitional Provisions

19.1

19.2

19.3

19.3.1

194

An entity need not apply the disclosure requimaents in this Appendix to
comparative information that relates to annual perbds beginning before
1 January 2005, except for the disclosures requiretly paragraph 14.1.1(a)
and 14.1.1(b) about accounting policies and recog@d assets, liabilities,
income and expense and cash flows.

When an entity applies the disclosure requireants in this Appendix to
comparative information that relates to annual perbds beginning before
1 January 2005, if it is impracticable to apply a prticular requirement of

this Appendix to comparative information that relates to annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2005, an entity shall dclose that fact. NZ IAS 8
explains the term impracticable.

In applying paragraph 15.1.1(b)(iii), an entiy need not disclose information
about claims development that occurred earlier thanfive years before the
end of the first reporting period in which it applies this Appendix.
Furthermore, if it is impracticable, when an entity first applies this
Appendix, to prepare information about claims develpment that occurred
before the beginning of the earliest period for whih an entity presents full
comparative information that complies with this Appendix, the entity shall
disclose that fact.

There are also references to transitionalasorement requirements in
paragraphs 10.2 to 10.2.2, 10.5, 10.6, 10.7, 1@u7d212.1.

Requirements on transition to this Appendix aréound in NZ IFRS 1.
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Definitions
20.1 In this Appendix:

acquisition costs means the fixed and variable costs of acquiring rewines:
including commissions and similar distribution epsind costs
accepting, issuing and initially recording policies
(Acquisition costs relate to the costs incurred égquaring specifi
life insurance contracts during the reporting periocheyTdo nc
include the general growth and development costsiied by a lifi

insurer.)
cedant means th@olicyholder under a reinsuranantract.
deposit means a contractual component tlgtnot accounted for as
component derivative under NZ IA89 and would be within the scope

NZ IAS 39 if it were a separate instrument.

direct insurance means an insurance contract that is n@i@surance contract.
contract

discretionary means a contractual right to receive, as a suppletoguaranteec
participation benefits additional benefits:
feature (@) that are likely to be a significant portion of thetal

contractual benefits;

(b) whose amount or timing is contractually at the difon o
the issuer; and

(c) that are contractually based on:
(i)  the performance of a specified pool of contracts
specified type of contract;
(i)  realised and/or unrealised investment returns
specified pool of assets held by the issuer; or

(i) the profit or loss of the company, fund or other er
that issues the contract.

fair value means the amount for which an asset could be egeldaror .
liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing pestin an arm’
length transaction.
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financial asset

financial
instrument

financial
liability

© Copyright

means any asset that is:

@)
(b)
(©

(d)

cash;

an equity instrument of another entity;

a contractual right:

(i)  toreceive cash or anothimancial assetfrom anothe
entity; or

(i) to exchangefinancial assetsor financial liabilitie s
with another entity uder conditions that a
potentially favourable to the entity; or

a contract that will or may be settled in the efgitpwn
equity instruments and is:

(i)  a nonderivative for which the entity is or may
obliged to receive a variable number of thaitgis
own equity instruments; or

(i)  a derivative that will or may be settled other thar
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or «
financial assets for a fixed number of the entityven
equity instruments. For this purpose the entioia
equity instruments do not include instrurtethat ar
themselves contracts for the future receipt orveey
of the entity’s own equity instruments.

means any contract that gives rise financial assetof one entit
and afinancial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

is any liability that is:

(@)

(b)

a contractual obligation:

(i)  to deliver cash or anothdinancial assetto anothe
entity; or

(i) to exchangefinancial assetsor financial liabilities
with another entity under conditions that
potentially unfavourable to the entity; or

a contract that will or may be settled in the ergitgwn

equity instruments and is:

(i) a nonderivative for which the entity is or may
obliged to deliver avariable number of the entity
own equity instruments; or

(i)  a derivative that will or may be settled other thzy
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or an
financial assetfor a fixed number of the entity’s o\
equity instruments. For this pose the entity’'s ow
equity instruments do not include instruments tira
themselves contracts for the future receipt orveey
of the entity’s own equity instruments.
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financial risk means the risk of a possible future change in anenare of
speified interest rate, financial instrument pricejranodity price
foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rateslicrating or cred
index or other variable, provided in the case ofiamfinancia
variable that the variable is not specific to aypé&v the contract.

general means an insurancentract that is not dife insurance contract.
insurance contract

guaranteed means payments or other benefits to which a paa

benefits policyholder or investor has an unconditional right that is
subject to the contractual discretion of the issuer

guaranteed means payments or other benefits to which a paatiqdlicyholde

benefits or investor has an unconditional right that is sabject tothe
contractual discretion of the issuer.

guaranteed means an obligation to paguaranteed benefits included in

elements contract that containsdiscretionary participation feature.

insurance asset means an insurer's net contractual rights underiresurance

contract.
insurance means a contract under which one party (ihgurer) accept
contract significantinsurancerisk from another party (theolicyholder) by

agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a spetifincertai
future event (thénsured eveni adversely affects thgolicyholder.

(Refer to AppendiB for additional guidance in applying t

definition.)
insurance means an insurer’'s net contractual obligations uadénsurance
liability contract.
insurance risk means risk, other théefimancial risk, transferred from the holder

a contract to the issuer.

insured event means an uncertain future event covered binsmrance contract
and creates insurandsk.

insurer means the party that has an obligation undeénsurance contract
to compensate a policyholder if arsured eventoccurs.

investment- means where the benefit amount undéfeainsurance contract or
linked life investment contract is directly linked to the market value
the investments held in the particular investmarked fund.
liability means an assessment of whether the carrying amduran
adequacy test insuranceliability needs to be increased (or the carrying amot

the related deferred acquisition costs or relatgdngible asse
decreased) based on a review of future cash flows.
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life insurance
business

life insurance
contract

life insurance
liability

life insurer

life investment
contract

life investment
contract
liability

life reinsurance
contract

non-investment-
linked business

policyholder

policy liability

reinsurance
assets

reinsurance
contract

reinsurer

separate
financial
statements
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means alllife insurance contract and life investment contract
business conducted byife insurer.

means aninsurance contract, or a financial instrument with
discretionary participation feature, issued by a life insurer.

means alife insurer's net contractual obligations under lige
insurance contract

means an entity operating under thife Insurance Act 1908 anc
similar entities operating outside New Zealand.

means a contract which is not an insurance conrads issued
life insurers, and gives rise to a financial assetfinancial liability
(as defined by NZ IAS 39). An investment contraatraz be .
contract exempted from the definition of an inseerontract ¢
found in paragraph 4 of NZ IFRS 4.

means a life insurer's net contractual obligationgder alife
investment contract which arise under the financial instrum
component of dife investmentcontract.

means alife insurance contract issued by oneinsurer (the
reinsurer) to compensate another insurer (teelani for losses o
one or more contracts issued by teelant

means life insurance business other thaninvestmentlinked

business

means a party that has a right to compensationruariasurance
contract if aninsured eventoccurs.

means a liability that arises undéifa insurance contract or alife
investment contract including any asset or liability arising
respect of the management services element | anvestment
contract.

means acedant’s net contractual rights under einsurance
contract.

means aninsurance contract issued by oneinsurer (the
reinsurer) to compensate another insurer (teelani for losses o
one or more contracts issued by teelant

means the party that has an obligation undereiasurance
contract to compensate @edantif aninsured eventoccurs.

means those presented by a parent in which its timeegs ar
accounted for on the basis of the direct equitgredt rather than
the basis of the reported results and net asséte afivestees.
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unbundled means to account for the components of a contsadt they wer
separate contracts.
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Appendix D

Financial reporting of insurance activities

This Appendix is an integral part of the Standard.

APPLICATION

SCOPE

General insurance contracts
Transactions outside the scope of this Appendix
Embedded derivatives

Deposit components

PURPOSE OF APPENDIX

PREMIUM REVENUE

Classification

Recognition

Reinsurance premiums

Measurement

Direct business

Reinsurance business

Adjusted premiums

Unclosed business

OUTSTANDING CLAIMS LIABILITIES
Recognition and measurement
Central estimate

Risk margin

Expected future payments
DISCOUNT RATES

UNEARNED PREMIUM LIABILITY
ACQUISITION COSTS

LIABILITY ADEQUACY TEST
OUTWARDS REINSURANCE EXPENSE

REINSURANCE RECOVERIES AND NON-REINSURANCE

© Copyright 82

Paragraphs

11

2.1

2. 2
231
241
3.1

4.1.1
4.2
4.2.6
4.3
44.4
4.4.6
4.4.12
4.5

5.1
514
5.1.6

5.2

6.1

7.1

8.1

9.1

10.1



RECOVERIES

IMPAIRMENT OF REINSURANCE ASSETS

PORTFOLIO TRANSFERS AND BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
UNDERWRITING POOLS AND COINSURANCE

ASSETS BACKING GENERAL INSURANCE LIABILITIES

Fair value approach

Measurement

NON-INSURANCE CONTRACTS

DISCLOSURES

Statement of comprehensive income

Statement of financial position

Non-insurance contracts

Insurance contracts — explanation of recognised amo unts
Nature and extent of risks arising from insurance co ntracts
Liability adequacy test
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The paragraph numbering in this Appendix is the sasy¢he numbering of AASB 1023
General Insurance Contracts Where there is an Australian requirement but no
corresponding New Zealand requirement a paragraphimer is given, followed by the

words “Not Used”.

Introduction

Financial Reporting of Insurance Activities incorgi@s the limited improvements to
accounting for insurance contracts required by IFR8surance Contracts Insurers
applying this Appendix and the New Zealand equivaléatsther International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) will therefore be coamplivith IFRSs.

IFRS 4 is being implemented in New Zealand using:

NZ IFRS 4Insurance Contract§the New Zealand equivalent to IFRS 4) which
applies to insurance contracts;

NZ IFRS 4 Appendix Qife Insurance Entitiesvhich applies to life insurers; and

NZ IFRS 4 Appendix DFinancial Reporting of Insurance Activitieghich applies
to general insurance activities.

NZ IFRS 4 Appendix D specifies the financial reportiagd disclosures required in the
reporting of general insurance activities. The Amje:

@)
(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

()

)
(h)

requires an entity to separate some embeddadtiees from their host contract;

prescribes when unbundling of the insurance asmapt and the deposit component
of an insurance contract is required and whengersitted;

requires premium revenue to be recognised & dtatement of comprehensive
income from the attachment date as soon as theaebiasis on which it can be
reliably estimated, either over the period of tbateact (direct business) or over the
period of indemnity (reinsurance business);

requires outstanding claims liabilities to beasured as the central estimate of the
present value of the expected future paymentsléms incurred with an additional
risk margin;

requires the use of a risk-free discount ratetfie measurement of outstanding
claims liabilities;

requires acquisition costs incurred to be def@rrecognised as assets and amortised
systematically when they can be reliably measuretlitais probable that they will
give rise to premium revenue;

requires the performance of a liability adequisst,

requires reinsurance recoveries and non-reams@r recoveries to be recognised as
revenue and not netted off against expenses;

provides guidance regarding insurance busimdsained in business combinations
or portfolio transfers;
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0] requires assets backing life insurance ligkditto be measured at fair value in
accordance with the appropriate New Zealand equivateriFRSs;

(k) requires non-insurance contracts to be accaufaiein accordance with NZ IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measuremant

0] requires substantial disclosures in the finahsiatements.

Terms defined in Section 19 are in italics thetfitisne they appear in the Appendix.
Definitions of other terms are given in the Glossary.

Adoption of this Appendix is required when an inspycgher than a life insurer, adopts New
Zealand equivalents to IFRSs. Entities that comyti this Appendix will simultaneously
be in compliance with NZ IFRS surance Contractand IFRS 4nsurance Contracts

This Appendix, when operative, supersedes FRS-Bhancial Reporting of Insurance
Activities

Comparison with AASB 1023

The requirements of this Appendix and AASB 1023 arelar except that this Appendix:

(a) requires investment properties backing lifairasce liabilities investment contracts
to be measured at fair value in accordance with NZ #8Snvestment Property
References to the cost model in NZ IAS 40 have bettat as NZ IAS 40 requires
all investment property to be measured at fairealu

(b) excludes any references to APRA and APRA requirénbecause New Zealand
does not have a regulatory body equivalent to APRA;

(c) does not refer to the Australian Insurance Adt3t&nd

(d) retains disclosures from FRS-35, many of whiehansidered necessary as there is
less regulation of the insurance industry in New Ziedl

Application
1.1 This Appendix deals with financial reporting ofinsurance activities.
1.2 This Appendix becomes operative for an entity’sinancial statements that

cover annual accounting periods beginning on or aér 1 January 2007.
Early adoption of this Appendix is permitted only when the entity complies
with NZIFRS 1 First-time Adoption of New Zealand Equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standardg$or an annual accounting period
beginning on or after 1 January 2005.

1.2A An entity shall apply the Amendments to NZ IFRS 4nsurance Contracts—
The Scope of Insurance Activities and Differential eRorting Concessions
amending paragraphs 2.1 and 17.7.1 for annual perits beginning on or
after 1 January 2009. Earlier application is encoraged. If an entity applies
the amendments for a period beginning before 1 Jarany 2009, it shall
disclose that fact.
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1.2B Paragraphs 15.5 and 15.5.2 were amended byprovements to NZ IFRSs
2008 issued in June 2008. An entity shall apply tse amendments for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009rospectively from the
date at which it first applied NZ IFRS 5Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations Earlier application is permitted. If an entity
applies the amendments for an earlier period it shiadisclose that fact.

1.3 [Not Used]
1.4 [Not Used]
1.4.1 [Not Used]

1.4.2 For the purposes of NZ IAS 8#terim Financial Reportinghe determination of
the outstanding claims liability does not necesgamequire a full actuarial
valuation. In accordance with NZ IAS 34, the outsbagalaims liability would
need to be determined on a reliable basis, wouldb&dsed on reasonable
estimates, would include a full review of all assuimm, and would not be
materially different from outstanding claims lidtyil determined by a full
actuarial valuation.

15 When operative, this Appendix supersedes FRS-3%inancial Reporting of
Insurance Activities

1.6 FRS-35 (issued in July 1999) remains applicalméil superseded by this
Appendix.

1.7 [Not Used]

Scope

General insurance contracts

2.1 This Appendix applies to the general purpose fancial statements of entities
that issue insurance contracts, other than life ingers as defined in
Appendix C Life Insurance Entities

2.1.1 There are various typesin$urance contract This Appendix deals witeneral
insurance contracts(including general reinsurance contragts General
insurance contracts are defined as insurance otsitttaat are ndife insurance

contracts.
2.1.2 [Not Used]
2.1.3 For ease of reference, this Appendix descabgsentity that issues an insurance

contract as an insurer, whether or not the issuggarded as an insurer for legal,
regulatory or supervisory purposes.

214 A reinsurance contractis a type of insurance contract. Accordingly, all
references in this Appendix to insurance contrad$® apply to reinsurance
contracts.
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Weather derivativeshat meet the definition of an insurance contrauder this
Appendix are treated under this Appendix. A conttaet requires payment
based on climatic, geological or other physicaialdes only where there is an
adverse effect on the contract holder is a weathgvative that is an insurance
contract. To meet the definition of a general msge contract, the physical
variable specified in the contract will be specifica party to the contract.

Transactions outside the scope of this appendix

This Appendix does not apply to:

@)
(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

()

(@

life insurance contracts (see NZ IFRS 4, Appendi€);

product warranties issued directly by a manufaturer, dealer or
retailer (see NZ IAS 18 Revenue and NZ IAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Asséts

employers’ assets and liabilities under emplogebenefit plans (see
NZ IAS 19 Employee Benefitand NZ IFRS 2 Share-based Payment
and retirement benefit obligations reported by defined benefit
retirement plans (see NZ IAS 26Accounting and Reporting by
Retirement Benefit Plans

contingent consideration payable or receivablein a business
combination (see NZ IFRS Business Combinations

contractual rights or contractual obligations hat are contingent on
the future use of, or right to use, a non-financiaitem (for example,
some licence fees, royalties, contingent lease pagmis and similar
items), as well as a lessee’s residual value guate@ embedded in a
finance lease (see NZ IAS 1Teases NZ IAS 18 and NZ IAS 38
Intangible Asset}

financial guarantee contracts unless the issudras previously asserted
explicitly that it regards such contracts as insurace contracts and
has used accounting applicable to insurance contres; in which case
the issuer may elect to apply either NZ IAS 3%inancial Instruments:

Recognition and Measuremerdnd NZ IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:

Disclosures,or this Appendix to such financial guarantee contrats.

The issuer may take that election by contract, buthe election for

each contract is irrevocable; and

direct insurance contracts that the entity hold (that is direct
insurance contracts in which the entity is a policlolder). However a
cedant shall apply this Appendix to reinsurance comécts that it
holds.
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231

2.3.2

241

242

Embedded derivatives

NZ IAS 39 requires an entity to separate someeelded derivatives from their
host contract, measure them at fair value and dectthanges in thefair valuein
profit or loss. NZ IAS 39 applies to derivatives exdtled in a general insurance
contract unless the embedded derivative is itsgdrgeral insurance contract.

As an exception to the requirement in NZ IAS @9,jnsurer need not separate,
and measure at fair value, a policyholder's optionsurrender an insurance
contract for a fixed amount (or for an amount baseda fixed amount and an
interest rate) even if the exercise price diffexaf the carrying amount of the
hostinsurance liability However, the requirement in NZ IAS 39 applies tag p
option or cash surrender option embedded in anranse contract if the
surrender value varies in response to the changdiimancial variable (such as an
equity or commodity price or index), or a non-ficet variable that is not
specific to a party to the contract. Furthermahet requirement also applies if
the holder’s ability to exercise a put option osttaurrender option is triggered
by a change in such a variable (for example, aption that can be exercised if a
stock market index reaches a specified level).

Deposit components

Some insurance contracts contain both arrénse component and deposit
component In some cases, an insurer is required or pardhtttunbundlethose
components:

(@) Unbundling is required if both the following catehs are met:

0] the insurer can measure the deposit componiactufling any
embedded surrender options) separately (that ishowit
considering the insurance component); and

(i)  the insurer's accounting policies do not othisie require it to
recognise all obligations and rights arising frohe tdeposit
component.

(b) Unbundling is permitted, but not required, iétimsurer can measure the
deposit component separately as in paragraph a)@)1(but its
accounting policies require it to recognise alligdtions and rights arising
from the deposit component, regardless of the hessd to measure those
rights and obligations.

(c) Unbundling is prohibited if an insurer cannot amere the deposit
component separately as in paragraph 2.4.1(a)(i).

The following is an example of a case whennanrer's accounting policies do
not require it to recognise all obligations arisiingm a deposit component. A
cedant receives compensation for losses fragiresurer, but the contract obliges
the cedant to repay the compensation in futuresye@hat obligation arises from
a deposit component. If the cedant’s accountidgips would otherwise permit
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it to recognise the compensation as income witheabgnising the resulting
obligation, unbundling is required.

Ageneral insurerin considering the need to unbundle the depasitponent of
the contract, would consider all expected cash flewsr the period of the
contract and would consider the substance of théractn For example, while
some financial reinsurance contracts may requireuanrenewal, in substance
they may be expected to be renewed for a numbezasky

2.4.4 To unbundle a general insurance contradghsamer shall:

(a) apply this Appendix to the insurance componamd

(b) apply NZ IAS 39 to the deposit component. Whpplying NZ IAS 39,
an insurer shall designate the deposit componefdtdair value through
profit or loss”, on first application of this Appeéix or on initial
recognition of the deposit component.

Purpose of Appendix

3.1

The purpose of this Appendix is to:

(a) specify the manner of accounting for the insoeaactivities of an entity
and for the investment activities integral to thosirance activities;

(b) specify the manner of accounting for generasuiance contracts
consistent with NZ IFRS 4; and

(c) require disclosure of information relating tsiirance activities.

Premium Revenue

41.1

41.2

413

Classification

Premiumrevenue comprises:

(@) premiums from direct business, that is, prensiyaid by a policyholder
(that is neither an insurer nor reinsurer) to aegahninsurer; and

(b) premiums from reinsurance business, that ismprms received by a
reinsurer from an insurer or from another reinsurer

Premiums from direct business arise from reatd where a policyholder
transfers significant insurance risk to an insurer.

Premiums from reinsurance business arise ftontracts where an insurer or
reinsurer transfers significant insurance riskniother reinsurer.
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4.2

421

4.2.2

4.2.3
4.2.4

4.2.5

Recognition

Premium revenue shall be recognised from thattachment dateas soon as
there is a basis on which it can be reliably estinted.

The amount of premium is determined by a génsurer or reinsurer so as to
cover anticipatedtlaims reinsurance premiums, administrative, acquisitol
other costs, and a profit component (having regmekpected revenues from the
investment of premiums). The amounts collectettgpect of these components
are revenue of an insurer on the basis that theygaltected in consideration for
the insurer rendering services by indemnifying éhassured against specified
losses.

For certain classes of insurance businesgrgment authorities may require the
payment of levies and charges. Examples includéedeimposed under the
Accident Insurance Act 1998 to reimburse the non-dimgp and insolvent
insurers funds (accident insurance levies), eagkegommission premiums and
fire service levies. Some such levies and chardes,example, accident
insurance levies, are expenses of the insurergrdttan government charges
directly upon those insured. The insurer is ndingcsimply as a collector of
these levies and charges. Although not compellembliect these amounts from
those insured, the insurer may include in premiansamount to cover the
estimated amount of the levies and charges. Theeénis usually responsible for
paying the levies and charges at a later dateaft@unt paid by the insurer does
not depend on the amounts collected from thoserédsin relation to the levies
and charges. Therefore, the amounts collectedetet these levies and charges
are revenue of the insurer. Other levies and ckargach as earthquake
commission premiums and fire service levies, atdn@uded in the definition of
premium as the insurer is acting simply as a ctilec

[Not Used.]

Premium revenue needs to be recognised tnenddte of the attachment of risk
in relation to each contract of general insuraneeabise insurers earn premium
revenue by assuming risks from that date on beifaffiose insured. However,

for reasons of practicality, many general insuress bases of recognition that
attempt to approximate this date. Such basescaeptable provided that they do
not result in the recognition of a materially difat amount of premium revenue
in a particular reporting period than would be tleseif recognition occurred

from the date of attachment of risk for each gdriesurance contract.

In recognising premiums from the attachmestedan insurer may recognise
premiums relating to general insurance contractsreviiee contract period
commences after the end of the reporting periodnneconly referred to as
premiums in advance. The attachment date is the fdam which an insurer
accepts risk. An insurer may accept risk prioti® date a contract commences;
for example, it is not unusual for insurers to &ssanewals, and for renewals to
be paid for by policyholders, prior to the commeaneet date of an insurance
contract. For commercial lines insurance, wherepibleyholder may be using
the services of an insurance broker, the renewalsteould be agreed by both the
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insurer and policyholder prior to the commencemedate and before the
policyholder has paid the premium. In this sitoafithere may also have been a
transfer of risk. As premiums in advance relatérelytto insurance cover to be
provided in a future period, premiums in advance bvélrecognised as part of the
unearned premium liability. Premiums in advance @nsidered as part of the
liability adequacy testequired by section 9.

Reinsurance premiums

From the perspective of the reinsurer, rearste premiums accepted are akin to
premiums accepted by the direct insurer. The wve@rsrecognisesnwards
reinsurancepremiums ceded to it as revenue in the same waydact insurer
treats the acceptance of direct premiums as revenue

Premiums accepted by the reinsurer are résedyfrom the attachment date, that
is, the date from which the reinsurer bears its pridgn of the relevant risks
underwritten by the cedant. Reinsurers usually hsses of recognition that
approximate the dates of bearing the risks. Fampte, the reinsurer may
assume that its acceptance of risks occurs frormitidle of the period for which
the aggregate ceded premiums are advised by thenttedThis approach is
acceptable provided that the premiums receivedeoeivable in respect of the
reporting period are recognised in that period, tvebr not the periodic advice
from the cedant insurer has been received.

Measurement

Premium revenue shall be recognised in profitrdoss from the attachment
date:

(a) over the period of the contract for direct busness; or
(b) over the period of indemnity for reinsurance bsiness,

in accordance with the pattern of the incidence ofisk expected under the
general insurance contract.

In the case of business where the premium iskgect to later adjustment, the
adjusted premium shall be used, where possible, #se basis for recognising
premium revenue. Where this is not possible, thdeposit premiumadjusted
for any other relevant information, shall be recogtised as the premium
revenue, provided that it is expected that this amant will not be materially

different from the actual amount of premium.

Premium revenue is recognised in profit @slavhen it has been earned. An
insurance contract involves the transfer of sigaifit insurance risk. The insurer
estimates the pattern of the incidence of risk dkerperiod of the contract for
direct business, or over the period of indemnityrfansurance business, and the
premium revenue is recognised in accordance with ghitern. This results in
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the allocation of the premium revenue and the damourred expense and hence
the gross underwriting result over the period ofdbetract for direct business, or

over the period of indemnity for reinsurance busidn accordance with the

pattern of the incidence of risk.

4.4.2 Measuring premium revenue involves the follgpsteps:

(@) estimating the total amount of premium revermx@ected under the
contract;

(b) estimating the total amount of claims expensa&pected under the
contract and estimating when the claims are expeotadse;

(c) estimating the pattern of the incidence of figkn the result of (b); and

(d) recognising the premium revenue under the achtdentified in (a) when
it will be earned, that is, in accordance with tla¢tgrn of the incidence of
risk determined in (c).

4.4.3 For some general insurance contracts, edlyeciemplex multi-year reinsurance
contracts, these estimations will involve the usesighificant judgement. The
estimates are reassessed at the end of each mgppeiiod. This prospective
estimate of all of the revenues and expenses esgherntder the contract is also
necessary for the purposes of the liability adeyuest. Refer to section 9.

Direct business

4.4.4 For most direct general insurance contrdsspecified period of the contract is
one year. For many direct insurance contractp#teern of the incidence of risk
will be linear, that is, the risk of events occugritihat will give rise to claims is
evenly spread throughout the contract period. tRese contracts the premium
revenue will be earned evenly over the period ofcttr@tract. However, for some
direct insurance contracts the risk of events caugyithat will give rise to claims
is not evenly spread throughout the contract. ex@mple, with motor insurance
contracts, the risk of events occurring that willegiise to claims may be subject
to seasonal factors.

445 Insurers estimate the pattern of the incideriaisk expected under the insurance
contracts from the attachment date. An insurer b@gble to reliably estimate
the pattern for a particular type of insurance bess based upon past experience.
However, where there have been changes in the ndttine cover provided, or
where there has been a change in loss experierec@atirer reflects this in the
estimations.

Reinsurance business

4.4.6 Reinsurers recognise reinsurance premiumg tive period of indemnity
provided by the reinsurance contract in accordanik the pattern of the
incidence of risk. For a typical 12 month propamtl treaty, such as a quota
share treaty, written on a “risks attaching bagisé period of indemnity will be

© Copyright 92



4.4.7

448

4.4.9

4.4.10

4411

NZ IFRS 4

24 months, as the proportional treaty will indemriifie direct insurer (or, for
retrocession, the reinsurer) for losses arisingeumiifect policies written during
the 12 month contract period. Hence, an underlgimgual direct contract written
on the last day of the reinsurance contract willehd2 months of insurance cover
beyond the last day of the reinsurance contrache feinsurer estimates the
pattern of the incidence of risk over the 24 madnttemnity period.

The reinsurer may be able to reliably estnthe pattern for a particular type of
reinsurance business based upon past experierfeereinsurer is likely to seek
information from the cedant to estimate the pattefrthe incidence of loss

expected. Where there have been changes in tbeeratthe cover provided or
when there has been a change in loss experiendasiner will need to reflect

this in the estimations.

To determine the pattern of the incidenceis, reinsurers first determine the
total premiums expected under the contract. Thempms receivable under
reinsurance treaties often depend on the voluntisihess written by the direct
insurer after the end of the reporting period tefoke the treaty expiry date. This
is always true of proportional (quota share andlsgjgreaties that span the end
of the reporting period, and is often true of noogwrtional treaties. For such
treaties, to estimate the total premium revenuesetegl under the reinsurance
contract, the reinsurer estimates the inwards reamse premium it will receive

under the contract by estimating the gross premiemenue that the cedant is
likely to receive. The reinsurer is likely to eséte this by communicating with

the cedant, and by reviewing past experience.

For a typical non-proportional treaty, sushaa excess of loss treaty, the period
of indemnity is usually the same as the contradbge For example, an excess of
loss treaty could indemnify an insurer for all oiai incurred above the excess
(either individual claims or in aggregate) durirge tcontract period, or for all
claims made during the contract period. For sofrteese contracts the pattern of
the incidence of risk is likely to be linear anchbe for these contracts the premium
revenue expected under the contract is earnedyeveat the contract period.

With a non-proportional treaty the reinswgstimates the total liabilities that are
likely to arise under the underlying insurance rgis to enable an estimation of
the total inwards reinsurance premium revenue éggamder the contract. Where
relevant, the reinsurer estimates whether the tesl¢éikely to want to reinstate the
contract, in which case the reinsurer considers ddditional reinstatement
premiums it is expected to receive and the extattthey may have been earned at
the end of the reporting period. A reinsurer &aislosely with the cedant, reviews
any market information on significant losses orresethat may have arisen, for
example a hailstorm or earthquake, and reviewsepgsrience.

Some reinsurance contracts might involveegoerience account. While such
contracts may require annual renewal, in substtreeontract period is likely to
be greater than one year. In estimating the fotahrds reinsurance premium
expected under the contract and in estimating tt& teinsurance claims, to
determine the pattern of the incidence of risk, teéhsurer considers the
probability-weighted expected cash flows over tkpeeted period of the contract,
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4.4.12

4.5

45.1

452

and discounts these cash flows to reflect the t#mee of money. Section 6
discusses the determination of discount rates.colmsidering the expected cash
flows, the reinsurer considers any cash flows sashprofit commissions and
commission rebates.

Adjusted premiums

For some classes of insurance it is usuah&premium to be adjusted as a result
of events and information that only become knowrirduor after the insurance
contract period. For example, marine cargo instean a type of “adjustable”
business for which a deposit premium is paid atktbginning of the contract
period and subsequently adjusted on the basicafgp declaration.

Unclosed business

Premium revenue relating to unclosed businesshal be recognised and
measured in accordance with paragraphs 4.2, 4.3 antl4.

Frequently, there is insufficient informatiawailable at the end of a reporting
period to enable a general insurer to accuratelytify the business written close to
the end of the reporting period for which the daftattachment of risk is prior to
the end of the reporting period. This is ofterenefd to as unclosed business.
Consistent with the principle stated in paragrajah that premium revenue is to be
recognised from the attachment date, all unclosesthbss will need to be estimated
and the premium relating to unclosed businessdeciin premium revenue.

Estimates of the amount of unclosed busitassbe made using information
from prior periods adjusted for the impact of recémends and events. In
addition, information about unclosed business nepme available after the end
of the reporting period and before the financiatesnent is authorised for issue,
which may enable more reliable estimates to be made.

Outstanding Claims Liabilities

51

511

Recognition and measurement

An outstanding claims liability shall be recogried in respect of direct
business and reinsurance business and shall be megsi as the central
estimate of the present value of the expected futerpayments forclaims
incurred with an additional risk margin to allow for the inherent uncertainty
in the central estimate.

The recognition and measurement approach iresquestimation of the
probability-weighted expected cost (discounted tpresent value) of settling
claims incurred, and the addition of a risk martgimeflect inherent uncertainty in
the central estimate.
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The longer the expected period from the drileoreporting period to settlement,
the more likely it is that the ultimate cost of teehent will be affected by
inflationary factors likely to occur during the pmt to settlement. These factors
include changes in specific price levels, for exEnpends in average periods of
incapacity and in the amounts of court awards facessful claims. For claims
expected to be settled within one year of the endhefreporting period, the
impact of inflationary factors might not be matéria

For claims expected to be settled within oearyof the end of the reporting
period, where the amount of the expected future paysndoes not differ
materially from the present value of those paymenturers would not need to
discount the expected future payments.

Central estimate

In estimating the outstanding claims liapjla central estimate is adopted. If all
the possible values of the outstanding claims liiss are expressed as a
statistical distribution, the central estimatehis tnean of that distribution.

In estimating the outstanding claims liajlian insurer may make use of case
estimates of individual reported claims that remairsettled at the end of the
reporting period. An insurer may base case estBnaethe most likely claim
costs. Where the range of potential outcomes wllsthe likely cost may be
close to the mean cost. However, where the potaatige of outcomes is large
and where the probability distribution may be higskgwed, the most likely cost,
or the mode, could be below the mean and hence hewentral estimate. In
this situation, the insurer would need to increagecase estimates accordingly to
ensure that they represent the central estimate.

Risk margin

The outstanding claims liability includes aiidition to the central estimate of the
present value of the expected future paymentsskamargin that relates to the
inherent uncertainty in the central estimate of phesent value of the expected
future payments.

Risk margins are determined on a basis tbfécts the insurer's business.
Regard is given to the robustness of the valuatmmuels, the reliability and
volume of available data, past experience of tiserer and the industry and the
characteristics of the classes of business written.

The risk margin is applied to the net ouditag claims for the entity as a whole.
The overall net uncertainty has regard to:

(@) the uncertainty in the gross outstanding cldiaislity;
(b) the effect of reinsurance on (a); and

(c) the uncertainty in reinsurance and other redeselue.
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522

5.2.3

In practice, however, outstanding claims liad$ are often estimated on a class-
by-class basis, including an assessment of thertanty in each class and the
determination of a risk margin by class of busine$ghen these estimates are
combined for all classes, the central estimatescarebined, however the risk

margin for all classes when aggregated may be detediby some insurers to be
less than the sum of the individual risk margififie extent of the difference that
some insurers may decide to recognise is likelgepend upon the degree of
diversification between the different classes amddibgree of correlation between
the experiences of these classes.

For the purposes of the liability adequast,trequired by section 9, the risk
margin for the entity as a whole is apportioned senportfolios of contracts that
are subject to broadly similar risks and are madaggether as a single portfolio.

Risk margins adopted for regulatory purpasay be appropriate risk margins
for the purposes of this Appendix, or they may bejapropriate starting point in
determining such risk margins.

Expected future payments

The expected future payments shall include:

(a) amounts in relation to unpaid reported claims;

(b) claims incurred but not reported (IBNR);

(c) claims incurred but not enough reported (IBNER);and

(d) costs, including claims handling costs, whichhe insurer expects to
incur in settling these incurred claims.

It is important to identify the componentstioé ultimate cost to an insurer of
settling incurred claims, for the purposes of deieing theclaims expenséor
the reporting period and determining the outstagdiaims liability as at the end
of the reporting period. These components comghisepolicy benefit amounts
required to be paid to or on behalf of those induend claims handling costs,
that is, costs associated with achieving settlemeiitts those insured. Claims
handling costs include costs that can be assodititectly with individual claims,
such as legal and other professional fees, and ¢bat can only be indirectly
associated with individual claims, such as claimsiadstration costs.

Policy benefit amounts and direct claims liagatosts are expenses of an insurer,
representing the consumption or loss of economiefits. The outstanding claims
liability includes unpaid policy benefits and diretaims handling costs relating to
claims arising during current and prior reportingripds, as they are outgoings
that an insurer is presently obliged to meet asalt of past events.

Indirect claims handling costs incurred dgrithe reporting period are also
expenses of an insurer, and include a portion@irtirect claims handling costs
to be paid in the future, being that portion whietates to handling claims arising
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during the reporting period. The outstanding chifiability includes these
unpaid indirect claims handling costs.

It is important to ensure that claims ar@geised as expenses and liabilities for
the correct reporting period. For contracts wnitn a claims-incurred basis,

claims arise from insured events that occur dutireginsurance contract period.

Some events will occur and give rise to claims #ratreported to the insurer and
settled within the same reporting period. Other riggbclaims may be unsettled

at the end of a particular reporting period. Imlidn, there may be events that
give rise to claims that, at the end of a reporpegod, have yet to be reported to
the insurer (IBNR claims). The insurer also considde need to recognise a
liability for claims that may be re-opened afteg #nd of the reporting period.

For contracts written on a claims-made bad#&ms arise in respect of claims
reported during the insurance contract period. imlared event that gave rise to
the claim could have occurred in a previous periodvhile claims-made
insurance contracts should theoretically only gnse to outstanding claims
liabilities and IBNER claims (see paragraph 5.2.88)¢claims cannot be incurred
but not reported under such a contract, this mayadhe case for reinsurers. A
reinsurer may have reinsured a claims-made contraet claims-incurred basis.
In this case while a loss or other event would benteg to the direct insurer
during the period of insurance to generate a veliiim, the reinsurer may not
have received information about the claim but wolidle an IBNR liability.
Similarly, a reinsurer may have issued a claimsenegnsurance contract but
may need to consider that not all notices of claimay have been reported by the
direct insurer. Insurers and reinsurers should bés aware of court rulings that
may impact on the way claims made policies are fpnéted.

Claims arising from events that occur durngeporting period and which are
settled during that same period are expenses ppérad. In addition, a liability

and corresponding expense is recognised for rapatééms arising from events
of the reporting period that have yet to be settléthis involves a process of
estimation that includes assessment of individia@ins and past claims experience.

When, based on knowledge of the business, I8&IRIs are expected to exist, an
estimate is made of the amount of the claims thélt axise therefrom. This
involves recognition of a liability and correspomgliexpense for the reporting
period. As in the case of reported but unsettladrd, an estimate of the amount
of the current claims incurred but not reportedased on past experience and
takes into account any changes in circumstanced) a8 recent catastrophic
events that may have occurred during the reponpieigod and changes in the
volume or mix of insurance contracts underwrittéiat tmay affect the pattern of
unreported claims.

Some insurers use estimations or formuldateck to the amount of outstanding
claims and based on the past experience of theeinand the industry, to arrive
at an estimate of direct and indirect handling £ost

Claims expense and the outstanding clainmditiaare adjusted on the basis of
information, including re-opened claims, that beesnmavailable after the initial
recognition of claims, to enable the insurer to enakmore accurate estimate of
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the ultimate cost of settlement. This is ofterenafd to as claims development.
As is the case with other liabilities, the effectiod adjustments to the liability for
outstanding claims and to claims expense is resegnin profit or loss when the
information becomes available.

Where further information becomes availaileut reported claims and reveals
that the ultimate cost of settling claims has beaderestimated, the upwards
adjustment to claims expense and to the liability dutstanding claims is often
referred to as claims incurred but not enough teplofBNER claims). Where
further information reveals that the ultimate co$tsettling claims has been
overestimated, the adjustment is sometimes refetoeds negative IBNER
claims.

Appropriate allowance is made for future claost escalation when determining
the central estimate of the present value of thpeeted future payments. Future
claims payments may increase over current levela essult of wage or price
inflation, and as a result of superimposed inflat{oost increases) due to court
awards, environmental factors or economic or otheses.

With inwards reinsurance claims the reinswuiftrreceive periodic advices from
each cedant. These may include aggregate infavmaélating to the claims
liability. The reinsurer measures its outstanditgyms liability on the basis of
this information and its past experience of thentdapayments made under
reinsurance arrangements. The reinsurer also denssimarket knowledge of
losses and other events such as hailstorms omgealtbs.

Discount Rates

6.1

6.1.1

6.1.2

6.1.3

The outstanding claims liability shall be disconted for the time value of
money using risk-free discount rates that are basedn current observable,
objective rates that relate to the nature, structue and term of the future
obligations.

The discount rates adopted are not intermleeflect risks inherent in the liability

cash flows, which might be allowed for by a reduetin the discount rate in a fair
value measurement, nor are they intended to rethecinsurance and other non-
financial risks and uncertainties reflected in thaestanding claims liability. The

discount rates are not intended to include allow&oc the cost of any options or
guarantees that are separately measured withoutiseanding claims liability.

Typically, government bond rates may be appmte discount rates for the
purposes of this Appendix, or they may be an appprstarting point in
determining such discount rates.

The portion of the increase in the liabifity outstanding claims from the end of
the previous reporting period to the end of theenirreporting period that is due
to discounted claims not yet settled being oneoplecioser to settlement, ought,
conceptually, to be recognised as interest expehe current reporting period.
However, it is considered that the costs of distislging this component of the
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increase in the outstanding claims liability excéeel benefits that may be gained

from its disclosure. Thus, such increase is inetlich claims expense for the

current reporting period.

Unearned Premium Liability

7.1

7.1.1

Premium that has not been recognised in pfiloss is premium that is
unearned and shall be recognised in the statenfefihancial position as an
unearned premium liability.

The unearned premium liability is to meet twsts, including the claims
handling costs, ofuture claimsthat will arise under current general insurance
contracts and the deferred acquisition costs thidteirecognised as an expense
in profit or loss in future reporting periods.

Acquisition Costs

8.1

8.11

8.1.2

8.1.3

Acquisition costs incurred in obtaining and recading general insurance
contracts shall be deferred and recognised as assewhere they can be
reliably measured and where it is probable that thg will give rise to
premium revenue that will be recognised in profit @ loss in subsequent
reporting periods. Deferred acquisition costs shall be amortised
systematically in accordance with the expected pattn of the incidence of
risk under the related general insurance contracts.

Acquisition costs are incurred in obtainingd a®cording general insurance
contracts. They include commission or brokeragel paiagents or brokers for
obtaining business for the insurer, selling and emwiting costs such as
advertising and risk assessment, the administratogs of recording policy
information and premium collection costs.

Because such costs are usually incurred @iisiton while the pattern of
earnings occurs throughout the contract periodschvimay extend beyond the
end of the reporting period, those acquisition £@gtich lead to obtaining future
benefits for the insurer are recognised as assets.

For an asset to be recognised, it will be abtdbthat the future economic benefits
will eventuate, and that it possesses a cost or etilee that can be measured
reliably. Direct acquisition costs such as commissir brokerage are readily

measurable. However, it may be difficult to reliabhgasure indirect costs that
give rise to premium revenue, such as administratwsts, because it is difficult

to associate them with particular insurance corgract
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Liability Adequacy Test

9.1

9.11

9.1.2

9.1.3

9.14

9.15

The adequacy of the unearned premium liabilityshall be assessed by
considering current estimates of the present valuef the expected future
cash flows relating to future claims arising from he rights and obligations
under current general insurance contracts. If thepresent value of the
expected future cash flows relating to future claimsarising from the rights
and obligations under current general insurance camacts, plus an
additional risk margin to reflect the inherent unceatainty in the central
estimate, exceed the unearned premium liability lesrelated intangible assets
and related deferred acquisition costs, then the wwarned premium liability
is deficient. The entire deficiency shall be recagsed in profit or loss. In
recognising the deficiency in profit or loss the isurer shall first write-down
any related intangible assets and then the relatedeferred acquisition costs.
If an additional liability is required this shall b e recognised in the statement
of financial position as an unexpired risk liability. The liability adequacy
test for the unearned premium liability shall be peformed at the level of a
portfolio of contracts that are subject to broadly similar risks and are
managed together as a single portfolio.

In determining the present value of the etqubduture cash flows relating to
future claims arising from the rights and obligasounder current general
insurance contracts, the insurer applies sectionan& 6 and includes an
appropriate risk margin to reflect inherent undettain the central estimate, as
set out in paragraphs 5.1.6 to 5.1.11.

Whilst the probability of adequacy adoptegarforming the liability adequacy
test may be the same or similar to the probabitityadequacy adopted in
determining the outstanding claims liability, tf8¢andard does not require the
same or similar probabilities of adequacy. Howevée users of financial

statements need to be presented with informatiotaipg any differences in

probabilities of adequacy adopted, and insurers racgiired to disclose the
reasons for any differences in accordance with papdgl7.8(e).

The unearned premium liability may includerpiums in advance as described in
paragraph 4.2.5. Insurers also consider whethee e any additional general
insurance contracts, where the premium revenuetisenognised in the unearned
premium liability, under which the insurer has a stomctive obligation to settle
future claims that may arise. That is, there maygbneral insurance contracts
where there has not been a transfer of risk, asitledcin paragraph 4.2.5, but
where a constructive obligation has arisen. Thé flasvs expected under these
contracts are considered as part of the liabilitgcuacy test.

In reviewing expected future cash flows, thsuiar takes into account both
future cash flows under insurance contracts it hemued and the related
reinsurance.

The related intangible assets referred framagraph 9.1 are those that arise under
paragraph 13.3.1(b). As the liability adequacy festthe unearned premium
liability is performed at the level of portfolios @ontracts that are subject to
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broadly similar risks and are managed together asingle portfolio, the
intangible asset is allocated on a reasonable besiss these portfolios.

As the liability adequacy test applies to defé acquisition costs and to
intangible assets, these assets are excluded fremsdope of NZ IAS 36
Impairment of Assets

Outwards Reinsurance Expense

10.1

10.1.1

10.1.2

10.1.3

10.1.4

10.1.5

Premiums ceded to reinsurers shall be recogeis by the cedant as outwards
reinsurance expense in profit or loss from the atiehment date over the
period of indemnity of the reinsurance contract inaccordance with the
expected pattern of the incidence of risk.

It is common for general insurers or reiassito reinsure a portion of the risks
that they accept. To secure reinsurance covercetant passes on a portion of
the premiums received to a reinsurer. This is kn@asroutwards reinsurance
expense.

The cedant accounts for direct insuranceraimdurance transactions on a gross
basis, so that the extent and effectiveness ofréivesurance arrangements are
apparent to the users of the financial statement,aa indication of the insurer’s
risk management performance is provided to usef$ie gross amount of
premiums earned by the cedant during the reponiegod is recognised as
revenue because it undertakes to indemnify theafatbunt of the specified losses
of those it has insured, regardless of the reimagra arrangements.
Correspondingly, the cedant recognises the grossianof claims expense in the
reporting period because it is obliged to meefftiilecost of successful claims by
those it has insured.

Accordingly, premium ceded to reinsurerseisognised in profit or loss as an
expense of the cedant on the basis that it is é&goog incurred in undertaking
the business of direct insurance underwriting, @andoit to be netted off against
premium revenue.

Outwards reinsurance expense is recognigaafit or loss consistently with the

recognition of reinsurance recoveries under thexstgance contract. For

proportional reinsurance the estimate of outwaritssueance expense is based
upon the gross premium of the underlying direcuiaace contract. For non-

proportional reinsurance the cedant estimatesotia ¢laims that are likely to be

made under the contract and hence whether it needscbgnise additional

outwards reinsurance expense under a minimum andsifeprrangement or

whether it needs to recognise reinstatement premaxpsnse.

Some reinsurance contracts purchased bgantenight involve an experience
account. While these contracts may require anrermwal, in substance, the
contract period is likely to be greater than onaryeln estimating the outwards
reinsurance expense and reinsurance recoveries tecbgnised in the reporting
period the cedant considers the probability-weigletquected cash flows over the
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expected period of indemnity and discounts the dishks to reflect the time

value of money. In determining the discount ratede adopted, an insurer
applies the same principles that are used to detertie discount rates for
outstanding claims liabilities that are outlinedsaction 6. In considering all
expected cash flows the reinsurer considers anyitpoafmmissions and

commission rebates.

Reinsurance Recoveries and Non-reinsurance
Recoveries

111

1111

11.1.2

11.1.3

Reinsurance recoveries received or receivable felation to the outstanding
claims liability and non-reinsurance recoveries reeived or receivable shall
be recognised as revenue of the cedant and shalltie netted off against the
claims expense or outwards reinsurance expense irrgfit or loss, or the
outstanding claims liability or unearned premium liability in the statement
of financial position.

The reinsurance recoveries receivable irstaement of financial position may
not be received for some time. The reinsuranc®veses receivable are
discounted on a basis consistent with the discogrtinthe outstanding claims
liabilities outlined in section 6.

An insurer may also be entitled to non-rei@sce recoveries under the insurance
contract such as salvage, subrogation and shanrangements with other
insurers. Non-reinsurance recoveries are not offgeinst gross claims, but are
recognised as income or assets, in the same waypuasseparately from,
reinsurance recoveries. The non-reinsurance reesvaeceivable in the
statement of financial position may not be receif@dsome time. The non-
reinsurance recoveries receivable are discounted basis consistent with the
discounting of the outstanding claims liabilitiagtloned in section 6.

Amounts that reduce the liability to the pgtiolder, such as excesses or
allowances for contributory negligence, are not r@insurance recoveries and
are offset against the gross claims.

Impairment of Reinsurance Assets

1211

If a cedant’s reinsurance asset is impaitesl,cedant shall reduce its carrying
amount accordingly and recognise that impairmentpiofit or loss. A
reinsurance asset is impaired if, and only if;

(@) there is objective evidence, as a result ofeaent that occurred after
initial recognition of the reinsurance asset, thatcedant may not receive
amounts due to it under the terms of the conteaud;

(b) that event has a reliably measurable impadheramounts that the cedant
will receive from the reinsurer.
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Portfolio Transfers and Business Combinations

131

13.1.1

13.1.2

13.1.3

13.1.4

13.2

13.3

13.3.1

Where the responsibility in relation to claimson transferred insurance
business remains with the transferring insurer, thetransfer shall be treated
by the transferring insurer and the accepting insuer as reinsurance
business.

Portfolio transfer is a term used to descthie process by which premiums and
claims are transferred from one insurer to anothligansfers may be completed
in a number of ways in relation to claims arisingnirevents that occurred before
the transfer. The receiving insurer may take rasitdlity in relation to all claims
under the agreement or treaty that have not yeh hgmd, or it may take
responsibility only in relation to those claimssamg from events that occur after
the date of transfer.

In relation to the transfer of insuranceifess, while the acquiring insurer agrees
to meet the claims of those insured from a pamiculme, the contractual
responsibility of the original insurer to meet thasaims normally remains.

In relation to the withdrawal of a reinsumeni a reinsurance treaty arrangement,
the contractual responsibility of the reinsurerthe direct insurer in relation to
outstanding claims may be passed back to the dimsater with a return of any
premium relating to unexpired risk, or may be metdi by the withdrawing
reinsurer. In the former case, the direct insumety choose to reinsure the
outstanding claims with another reinsurer. Thisuagsg reinsurer would be
ceded premiums for bearing liability in relationexisting outstanding claims.

Where the responsibility in relation to elaion transferred insurance business
remains with the transferring insurer:

(@) the transferring insurer recognises the trareflepremium revenue and
the relevant outstanding claims in the same way thgrooutwards
reinsurance business; and

(b) the accepting insurer recognises the premiuwrange ceded to it and the
relevant outstanding claims in the same way asr atlveards reinsurance
business.

Where the responsibility in relation to claimson transferred insurance
business passes from the transferring insurer to #h accepting insurer, the
transfer shall be accounted for as a portfolio witdrawal by the transferring
insurer and as a portfolio assumption by the accepig insurer.

A portfolio withdrawal shall be accounted for bythe transferring insurer by
eliminating the liabilities and assets connected witthe risks transferred. A
portfolio assumption shall be accounted for by theaccepting insurer by
recognising the relevant amount of unexpired premim revenue and the
outstanding claims for which the transferring insure is no longer responsible.

To comply with NZ IFRS 3, an insurer shdiltree acquisition date, measure at
fair value the insurance liabilities assumed @&mglirance assetacquired in a
business combination. However, an insurer is p&dhitut not required, to use
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13.3.2

13.3.3

13.3.4

an expanded presentation that splits the fair vafuecquired insurance contracts
into two components:

(@) a liability measured in accordance with the iegs accounting policies
for general insurance contracts that it issues; and

(b) an intangible asset, representing the diffexdratween

0] the fair value of the contractual insurancehtsy acquired and
insurance obligations assumed; and

(i)  the amount described in paragraph 13.3.1(a).

The subsequent measurement of this asset shall obeistent with the
measurement of the related insurance liability.

An insurer acquiring a portfolio of generakurance contracts may use an
expanded presentation described in paragraph 13.3.1

The intangible assets described in paragrap!8.1 and 13.3.2 are excluded from
the scope of NZ IAS 36 and NZ IAS 38 in respect of gadtion and
measurement. NZ IAS 36 and NZ IAS 38 apply to custdistr and customer
relationships reflecting the expectation of futaomtracts that are not part of the
contractual insurance rights and contractual inmgeaobligations that existed at
the date of a business combination or portfoliagfar.

NZ IAS 38 includes specific disclosure requieats in relation to this intangible
asset.

Underwriting Pools and Coinsurance

14.1

141.1

14.1.2

14.2

Insurance business allocated through underwiiig pools and coinsurance
arrangements, by an entity acting as agent, shallebaccounted for by the
accepting insurer as direct insurance business.

Direct insurers or reinsurers may form undiéng pools or enter coinsurance
arrangements as vehicles for jointly insuring paitr risks or types of risks.
Premiums, claims and other expenses are usualliedhia agreed ratios by
insurers involved in these arrangements.

Many underwriting pools and coinsurance gearents involve the acceptance
of risks by an entity acting as an agent for po@nhers or coinsurers. The
entity receives premiums and pays claims and exsrd allocates shares of
the business to each pool member or coinsurer ieedgratios. As the entity

acting as agent is not an insurer, the businessa#d to pool members and
coinsurers is not reinsurance business. Pool men#el coinsurers treat such
business allocated to them as direct insuranceessi

Business directly underwritten by a member ofan underwriting pool or
coinsurance arrangement shall be treated as diredhsurance business and
the portion of the risk reinsured by other pool menters or coinsurers,
determined by reference to the extent of the sharesn the pool or
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arrangement of other pool members or coinsurers, sl be treated as
outwards reinsurance. The pool member’s or coinswr’s share of insurance
business that other insurers place in the pool orreangement shall be treated
as inwards reinsurance.

Assets Backing General Insurance Liabilities

151

15.2

15.2.1

Fair value approach

Paragraphs 15.2 to 15.5 address the measureshesertain assets backing
general insurance liabilities or financial liabés that arise under non-insurance
contracts. The fair value approach to the measemeiof assets backing general
insurance liabilities or financial liabilities thatise under non-insurance contracts
is consistent with the present value measuremenbaplp for general insurance
liabilities, and the fair value measurement foafigial liabilities that arise under
non-insurance contracts, required by this Appendi¥here assets are not
backing general insurance liabilities or finandiabilities that arise under non-
insurance contracts, general insurers apply thelicappe New Zealand
equivalents to IFRSs, making use of any measureaterites available.

Measurement

Financial assetghat:
(a) are within the scope of NZ IAS 39;
(b) back general insurance liabilities; and

(c) are permitted to be designated as “at fair vale through profit or
loss” under NZ IAS 39;

shall be designated as “at fair value through profior loss”, under NZ IAS 39
on first application of this Appendix or on initial recognition.

An insurer applies NZ IAS 39 to its financiglsets. Under NZ IAS 39 a
financial asset “at fair value through profit os43 is a financial asset that meets
either of the following conditions:

(a) it is classified as held for trading; or

(b) it is designated as “at fair value through ftrafr loss” upon initial
recognition. An entity may use this designation wtten financial asset
is a contract with an embedded derivative and papdgrllA of
NZ IAS 39 allows the entity to measure the contract'asfair value
through profit and loss”; or when doing so resulis more relevant
information, because either:

0] it eliminates or significantly reduces a mea&sunent or recognition
inconsistency (sometimes referred to as an “acéognt
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mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from measuisgets or
liabilities or recognising the gains and lossedhl@m on different
bases; or

(ii) a group of financial assets, financial liabés or both is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair valusishain
accordance with a documented risk management ostimest
strategy, and information about the group is pregichternally on
that basis to the entity’s key management persofasetiefined in
NZ IAS 24 Related Party Disclosurgsfor example the entity’s
board of directors and chief executive officer.

NZ IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of New Zealand Equivalents toetnational
Financial Reporting Standardsermits entities to designate financial assetsats “
fair value through profit or loss” on first applt@an of the Standard.

15.2.2 The view adopted in this Appendix is that riicial assets, within the scope of
NZ IAS 39 that back general insurance liabilitieg permitted to be measured at
fair value through profit or loss under NZIAS 39. hi§ is because the
measurement of general insurance liabilities urtties Appendix incorporates
current information and measuring the financialetsdacking these general
insurance liabilities at fair value, eliminates significantly reduces a potential
measurement inconsistency which would arise if theetaswere classified as
available for sale or measured at amortised cost.

15.3 Investment property within the scope of NZ IAS40 and that backs general
insurance liabilities shall be measured using theafr value model under
NZ IAS 40.

15.4 Property, plant and equipment that is within he scope of NZ IAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipmenand that backs general insurance liabilities,
shall be measured using the revaluation model undedZ IAS 16.

15.4.1  An insurer applies NZ IAS 16 to its propertianp and equipment. Under
NZ IAS 16 property includes owner-occupied propertyd goroperty being
constructed or developed for future use as invastnmroperty. Under
NZ IAS 16, the cost model, for measurement subsedoenitial recognition, is
to carry property, plant and equipment at cost. HaneNZ IAS 16 also has a
revaluation model: an entity, subsequent to initedognition, may carry its
property, plant and equipment assets at a revaloezlint, being its fair value at
the date of the revaluation less any subsequeninadated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

15.4.2  Those property, plant and equipment adsatsate within the scope of NZ IAS 16
and that the insurer considers back general insarfabilities are measured using
the revaluation model under NZ IAS 16.

15.5 When preparing separate financial statementsthose investments in
subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and assdates that:

(@) are defined by NZ IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements
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(b) back general insurance liabilities; and

(c) are permitted to be designated as “at fair vala through profit or
loss” under NZ IAS 39;

shall be designated as “at fair value through profior loss” under NZ IAS 39,
on first application of this Appendix or on initial recognition.

An insurer applies NZ IAS 27 to its investmeéntsubsidiaries, jointly controlled
entities and associates when preparing separatecfalastatements. Under
NZ IAS 27, in the parent's own financial statementse tinvestments in
subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and asatas can either be accounted for
at cost or in accordance with NZ IAS 39.

In the parent’s separate financial statespénvestments in subsidiaries, jointly
controlled entities and associates, that are withenscope of NZ IAS 27 that the
insurer considers back general insurance liakslitend that are permitted to be
designated as “at fair value through profit or fosmder NZ IAS 39 are
designated as “at fair value through profit or togsader NZ IAS 39, on first
application of this Appendix or on initial recogoiti.

[Deleted by the FRSB]

Non-Insurance Contracts

16.1

16.1.1

Non-insurance contracts shall be treated undeédZ IAS 39 to the extent that
they give rise to financial assets and financial dbilites. However, the
financial assets and the financial liabilities thatarise under these contracts
shall be designated as “at fair value through profi or loss” on first

application of this Appendix or on initial recognition of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, where this permitted under NZ IAS 39.

In relation to non-insurance contracts, asuier applies NZ IAS 39 to its
financial assets and financial liabilities. Under MS 39 a financial asset or
financial liability at fair value through profit oloss is a financial asset or
financial liability that meets either of the follawg conditions:

(a) it is classified as held for trading; or

(b) it is designated as “at fair value through frafr loss” upon initial
recognition. An entity may use this designatiorewlhe financial asset is a
contract with an embedded derivative and paragtaghof NZ IAS 39
allows the entity to measure the contract as ‘fatviue through profit and
loss”; or when doing so results in more relevafdrimation, because either:

0) it eliminates or significantly reduces a measaent or recognition
inconsistency (sometimes referred to as an “acagymismatch”)
that would otherwise arise from measuring assetkabilities or
recognising the gains and losses on them on diffé&@ses; or

(ii) a group of financial assets, financial liabéds or both is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair valusishain
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accordance with a documented risk management orstimeant

strategy, and information about the group is preglichternally on

that basis to the entity’s key management persofasetiefined in
NZ IAS 24 Related Party Disclosurgsfor example the entity’s
board of directors and chief executive officer.

NZ IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of New Zealand Equivalents tdetnational
Financial Reporting Standardgermits entities to designate financial assets and
financial liabilities as “at fair value through ffitoor loss” on first application of
the Standard.

16.2 Paragraphs 15.2, 15.3, 15.4 and 15.5 shallcal®e applied to the measurement
of assets that back financial liabilities that arie under non-insurance
contracts.

Disclosures

Statement of Comprehensive Income

17.1 In relation to profit or loss, the financial satement shall disclose:

(a) the underwriting result for the reporting period, determined as the
amount obtained by deducting the sum of claims expse, outwards
reinsurance premium expense and underwriting expers from the
sum of direct and inwards reinsurance premium reveoes and
recoveries revenue;

(b) net claims incurred, showing separately:
0] the amount relating to risks borne in the current reporting
period; and
(i)  the amount relating to a reassessment of riskborne in all
previous reporting periods.

An explanation shall be provided where net claims icurred relating
to a reassessment of risks borne in previous repamng periods are
material; and

(c) in respect of 17.1(b)(i) and 17.1(b)(ii), theoflowing components shall
be separately disclosed:

0] gross claims incurred - undiscounted;
(ii) reinsurance and other recoveries - undiscount& and

(i) discount movements shown separately for (i)r&d (ii).
17.1.1  This Appendix requires the underwriting redaft the reporting period to be
disclosed. This disclosure gives an indicationaof insurer’s underwriting

performance, including the extent to which underwgtiactivities rely on
investment revenues for the payment of claims.
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17.1.1a The information provided by a direct insucea reinsurer may be insufficient to

17.1.2

17.2

allow the reinsurer to make the claims developmdistliosures required by
paragraph 17.1(b). On this basis, for inwards tearsce business, the Appendix
allows an exemption from the claims developmentldsire requirements.

Based on the total movement in net clairmsried, it may appear that there has not
been a material reassessment of risks borne imopeperiods, however, there may
be material movements at a business segment thatlmitigate each other. For
example, the insurer may have seen a materialioketon in its motor portfolio,
which has been mitigated by material savings in phefessional indemnity
portfolio, such that when both portfolios are aggted there appears to have been
little change in the reporting period. In sucttemstances, the insurer provides an
explanation of the reassessments that took pladdeimet claims incurred for
previous periods during the reporting period atithginess segment level.

Statement of financial position

The financial statement shall disclose in refian to the outstanding claims

liability:

(a) the central estimate of the expected present e of future payments
for claims incurred;

(b)  the component related to the risk margin;

(c) the percentage risk margin adopted in determimig the outstanding
claims liability determined from (a) and (b) above;

(d)  the probability of adequacy intended to be acleived through adoption
of the risk margin; and

(e) the process used to determine the risk margirncluding the way in
which diversification of risks has been allowed far

® the undiscounted amount of claims, reconciledot the liability for
outstanding claims;

(9) average inflation and discount rate(s) appliedfor the following
periods in measuring claims:
0] the succeeding year; and
(ii) later than one year from the end of the reporing period; and
(h)  the average weighted expected term to settlemefnom the end of the

reporting period of the claims included in the liablity for outstanding
claims;

except that reinsurers may exclude proportional traty
reinsurance business from the disclosures required by
paragraphs 17.2(g) and 17.2(h).
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17.3

17.4

174.1

17.5
1751
17.5a

17.6

17.6.1

An insurer shall disclose the process used tetdrmine which assets back
general insurance liabilities and which assets badinancial liabilities arising
under non-insurance contracts.

Non-insurance contracts

Where a general insurer has issued a non-ingaurce contract or holds a non-
insurance contract as a cedant, and that non-insurece contract has a material
financial impact on the statement of comprehensivéncome, statement of
financial position or cash flows, the general insureshall disclose:

(a) the nature of the non-insurance contract;

(b)  the recognised assets, liabilities, income, expse and cash flows
arising from the non-insurance contract; and

(c) information that helps users to understand theamount, timing and
uncertainty of future cash flows from the non-insuance contract.

In applying paragraph 17.4 a non-insurawcgract must be considered together
with any related contracts or side letters, when rdetéeng the need for
disclosure, and in making the disclosures required.

[Deleted by the FRSB]
[Deleted by the FRSB]
[Deleted by the FRSB]

Insurance contracts — explanation of recognised
amounts

An insurer shall disclose information that idetifies and explains the
amounts in its financial statements arising from isurance contracts.

To comply with paragraph 17.6, an insurel sligclose:

(@) its accounting policies for insurance contraetsd related assets,
liabilities, income and expense;

(b) the recognised assets, liabilities, incomeeesp and cash flows arising
from insurance contracts. Furthermore, if the iesis a cedant, it shall
disclose:

0] gains and losses recognised in profit or las$oying reinsurance;
and

(ii) if the cedant defers and amortises gains asgbds arising on
buying reinsurance, the amortisation for the periand the
amounts remaining unamortised at the beginning eaxdl of the
period;
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the process used to determine the assumptiathave the greatest effect
on the measurement of the recognised amounts dedcin (b). When
practicable, an insurer shall also give quantifididclosure of those
assumptions;

the effect of changes in assumptions used @sore insurance assets and
insurance liabilities, showing separately the effdatach change that has
a material effect on the financial statement; and

reconciliations of changes in insurance liéib#i reinsurance assetand,
if any, related deferred acquisition costs.

In applying paragraph 17.6.1(b), the recegphiassets and liabilities arising from
insurance contracts would normally include:

@)
(b)

(©
(d)

(e)
®
(9)
(h)
0)
0)
(N
0)

(m)

gross outstanding claims liability;

reinsurance recoveries receivable arising frill outstanding claims
liability;

gross unearned premium liability;

reinsurance recoveries receivable arising fril@ unearned premium
liability;

unexpired risk liability;

other reinsurance recoveries receivable;

other recoveries receivable;

outwards reinsurance expense asset or liability;

direct premium revenue receivable;

inwards reinsurance premium revenue receivable;

deferred acquisition cost asset;

intangible assets relating to acquired insueacwntracts; and

provisions for premium deficiency.

In applying paragraph 17.6.1(b), the recsgphiincome and expenses arising
from insurance contracts would normally include:

@)
(b)
(©
(d)
(e)
()
©)
(h)

direct premium revenue;

inwards reinsurance premium revenue (includetgressions);
reinsurance and other recoveries revenue;

direct claims expense;

reinsurance claims expense;

outwards reinsurance premium expense (includdigcessions);
acquisition costs expense; and

other underwriting expenses, including claimsdiamg expenses.
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17.6.4  When an insurer is presenting the disclastequired by paragraphs 17.6.1(c)
and 17.6.1(d) the insurer determines the level extént of disclosure that is
appropriate having regard to its circumstancesthedqualitative characteristics
of financial statements under the New Zeal&namework of understandability,
relevance, reliability and comparability.

17.6.5 For an insurer that is involved in a larganber of insurance classes, across
different jurisdictions, disclosure by class of imegss is likely to be voluminous
and may not be understandable to the user of thandial statement.
Furthermore, for such an insurer, disclosure ferdhtity as a whole is also likely
to be at too high a level of aggregation to bewvad or comparable. It is
expected that for most insurers disclosure at tagombusiness segment level
would normally be most appropriate. The insurer imalieve that disclosure of a
range of values would be relevant to the usersefittancial statements.

17.6.6  Some of the assumptions that would normadlye the greatest effect on the
measurement of the recognised amounts describEd6nl(b), are discount rates,
inflation rates, average weighted term to settlenfemn the claims reporting
date, average claim frequency, average claim sideeapense rates. The insurer
determines whether these assumptions shall be ségtigiven the requirements
of paragraph 17.6 and 17.6.1.

17.6.7  The statement of financial position shaliftlose the following items, classified
into current and non-current categories, or indtad order of their liquidity:

(@) investments integral to the entity’'s insurarativities, by class of
investment; and

(b) operating assets by class of asset.

Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Insurance

Contracts

17.7 An insurer shall disclose information that enales users of its financial
report to evaluate the nature and extent of risks msing from insurance
contracts.

17.7.1  To comply with paragraph 17.7, an insure slisclose:

(@) its objectives, policies and processes for maggrisks arising from
insurance contracts and the methods used to manage risks;

(b) information abouinsurance riskboth before and after risk mitigation by
reinsurance), including information about:

0] sensitivity to insurance risk (see paragrapty Bj;

(ii) concentrations of insurance risk, includingdascription of how
management determines concentrations and a désarigt the
shared characteristic that identifies each conagatr (e.g. type of
insured event, geographical area, or currency); and
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(i)  actual claims compared with previous estimat@s. claims
development). The disclosure about claims deveyrshall go
back to the period when the earliest material claiose for which
there is still uncertainty about the amount andrtgrof the claims
payments, but need not go back more than ten ye&nsinsurer
need not disclose this information for claims foriegthuncertainty
about the amount and timing of claims paymentsyjscally
resolved within one year;

(c) information about credit risk, liquidity risk nd market risk that
paragraphs 31-42 of NZ IFRS Financial Instruments: Disclosures
would require if the insurance contracts were withite tscope of
NZ IFRS 7. However:

0] an issuer need not provide the maturity analystquired by
paragraph 39(a) of NZ IFRS 7 if it discloses infotima about the
estimated timing of the net cash outflows resultiffgm
recognised insurance liabilities instead. This take the form of
an analysis, by estimated timing, of the amountsgrised in the
statement of financial position; and

(ii) if an insurer uses an alternative method tonage sensitivity to
market conditions, such as an embedded value asaltysay use
that sensitivity analysis to meet the requiremergaragraph 40(a)
of NZ IFRS 7. Such an insurer shall also provide disclosures
required by paragraph 41 of NZ IFRS @nd

(d) information about exposures to market risk iagsfrom embedded
derivatives contained in a host insurance contifathe insurer is not
required to, and does not, measure the embeddeaiilers at fair value.

For an insurer that is involved in a largember of insurance classes, across
different jurisdictions, disclosure by class of imess is likely to be voluminous
and may not be understandable to the user of tlamdial report. Furthermore,
for such an insurer disclosure for the entity aghale would normally be at too
high a level of aggregation to be relevant or comaiple. It is expected that for
most insurers disclosure at the major business eseghavel would normally be
most appropriate.

The claims development disclosure requirgdpharagraph 17.7.1(b)(iii) only
applies to classes of business where claims aréypiatlly resolved within one
year. The insurer, in disclosing claims developmensures it is clear to the
reader of the financial report, which classes ofrimss, or which segments of the
business, are covered by the disclosures and vdiésises of business, or which
segments of the business, are not covered by scodures.

[not used]

Qualifying entities applying NZ IFRS 4 shall compm full with any requirements of NZ IFRS 7 which
are referred to in NZ IFRS 4.
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17.7.5 To comply with paragraph 17.7.1(b)(i), arunes shall disclose either (a) or (b)
as follows:

@)

(b)

a sensitivity analysis that shows how profitass and equity would have
been affected had changes in the relevant riskallari that were
reasonably possible at the end of the reportingogeoccurred; the
methods and assumptions used in preparing thetiségsanalysis; and
any changes from the previous period in the methards assumptions
used. However, if an insurer uses an alternativehooeto manage
sensitivity to market conditions, such as an embddealue analysis, it
may meet this requirement by disclosing that aitéve sensitivity

analysis and the disclosures required by paragtapsf NZ IFRS 7; and

qualitative information about sensitivity, andformation about those
terms and conditions of insurance contracts thaé lramaterial effect on
the amount, timing and uncertainty of the insuréutsire cash flows.

Liability Adequacy Test

17.8 In relation to the liability adequacy test insection 9 the financial statement
shall disclose:

@)

(b)

(©
()

© Copyright

where a deficiency has been identified, the amnts underlying the

calculation performed, that is:

0] unearned premium liability;

(ii) related reinsurance asset;

(i)  deferred acquisition costs;

(iv) intangible assets;

v) present value of expected future cash flows fduture claims,
showing expected reinsurance recoveries separately;

(vi)  deficiency;

any write-down of deferred acquisition costs oder the liability
adequacy test;

any write-down of intangible assets under th&ability adequacy test;

in relation to the present value of expectedufure cash flows for
future claims:

0] the central estimate of the present value of g@ected future
cash flows;

(i)  the component of present value of expected fute cash flows
related to the risk margin;

(i) the percentage risk margin adopted in determiing the present
value of expected future cash flows (determined fra (i) and
(i) above);
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(iv)  the probability of adequacy intended to be acieved through
adoption of the risk margin;

(v) the process used to determine the risk margirincluding the
way in which diversification of risks has been allwed for;

where the probability of adequacy disclosed iparagraph 17.2(d) is
not the same or similar to the probability of adegacy disclosed in
paragraph 17.8(d)(iv), the reasons for the differece; and

where a surplus has been identified, the facthat the liability
adequacy test identified a surplus.

Actuarial information

Where an actuarial report has been obtainedhe following must be disclosed

in the notes:

(a) if other than the end of the reporting period,the effective date of the
calculation or assessment in the actuarial report;

(b)  the name and qualifications of the actuary;

(c) where the actuary is satisfied as to the naturesufficiency and
accuracy of the data used to determine the outstaimy claims
liability;

(d) the key assumptions used by the actuary in detaining the
outstanding claims liability; and

(e) any qualifications contained in the actuarial eport.

Disclosure of assumptions

A summary of the key assumptions used in detaming the outstanding
claims liability shall be disclosed for each portfbo and for financial
liabilities, if applicable, in the notes including:

@)
(b)
(©
(d)
(e)
()

the methodology used in determining the liabity;

discount rates;

inflation rates applicable to claim payments;

future claims expenses (allocated and unalloczd);

the pattern of claims run-off; and

any other significant assumptions for the methdology used.
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17.8C

17.8D

17.8E

17.8F.1

17.8F.2

17.9.1

Other disclosures

The credit rating of the insurer must be disosed. If the insurer is not
required to have a credit rating this must be disdsed.

The insurer must disclose by way of descripi note the principles on which
the insurer’s reinsurance programme is structured

The amount of equity retained for the purposef financial soundness and
the basis of establishing that amount must be disz$ed. A group must make
this disclosure for each insurer in the group.

The disclosures on reinsurance and the rinauequity retained by an insurer
should describe how the insurer manages its unesgbeisks— those risks arising

from claims volatility or catastrophe. The disaloes should include the insurer’'s
assessment of the likelihood of claims volatility catastrophe for particular
classes of business and the geographical diswibudf its risks, as it is these
assessments that determine the total level of wweg risk and therefore the
best way of managing that risk.

Disclosures on reinsurance and the amouegoity retained by an insurer to
maintain its continuing financial soundness shalédcribe the types of risk that
are covered by these measures and the level ofragerecompared to the
insurer’s total exposure to that type of risk.thHé insurer uses other methods to
manage its unexpected risks this additional infeinashould also form part of
these disclosures. These other methods coulddedelf-reinsurance though a
parent company, reinsurance though its own asset loascredit lines that the
insurer can draw upon if required. These disclasurdotal (reinsurance, equity
retention and additional information) should givee tuser of the financial
statements a general understanding of the insupgirgiples and methods for
managing unexpected risks rather than a detailpkheation.

This Appendix addresses disclosure requirsmerrelation to general insurance
contracts. Other New Zealand standards may be reléwan general insurer's

financial statement. In particular, the disclostguirements in NZ IFRS 7 would

normally be relevant to general insurers.

Transitional Provisions

18.1

18.2

An entity need not apply the disclosure requiments in this Appendix to
comparative information that relates to annual perbds beginning before
1 January 2005, except for the disclosures requiretly paragraph 17.6.1(a)
and 17.6.1(b) about accounting policies, and recoed assets, liabilities,
income and expense and cash flows.

Where an entity applies the disclosure requiraents in this Appendix to
comparative information that relates to annual perbds beginning before
1 January 2005, if it is impractical to apply a paticular requirement of this
Appendix to comparative information that relates to annual periods
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beginning before 1 January 2005, an entity shall dclose that fact. NZ IAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimatend Errorsexplains the
term “impracticable”.

In applying paragraph 17.7.1(b)(iii), an entiy need not disclose information
about claims development that occurred earlier tharfive years before the end
of the first annual reporting period in which it applies this Appendix.
Furthermore, if it is impracticable, when an entity first applies this Appendix,
to prepare information about claims development tha occurred before the
beginning of the earliest period for which an entitypresents full comparative
information that complies with this Appendix, the entty shall disclose that
fact.

There are also references to transitionalasomement requirements in
paragraphs 15.2.1, 15.2.2, 15.5, 15.5.2, 16.116rd 1.

Requirements on transition to this Appendix aréound in NZ IFRS 1.
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Definitions

19.1

attachment date

cedant

claim

claims expense

claims incurred

deposit
component

deposit premium

direct insurance
contract

fair value

© Copyright

In this Appendix:

means, for a direct insurer, the date as from witehinsurer
accepts risk from the insured under an insuganontract c
endorsement or, for aeinsurer, the date from which tl
reinsurer accepts risk from the direct insurer or anc
reinsurer under a reinsurance arrangement.

means th@olicyholder under aeinsurancecontract.

meansa demand by any party external to the entity fompen
by theinsurer on account of an alleged loss resulting fron
insured eventor events, that have occurred, alleged to be cd
by insurance

means the charge to profit or loss the reporting period a
represents the sum of claims settled and claimsagemer
expenses relating telaims incurred in the period and tt
movement in the grossutstanding claims liability in the period.

meansclaims that have occued prior to the end of the report
period; the claims could be reported or unrepogethe end ¢
the reporting period.

means a contractual component that is not accouiotie@s i
derivative under NZ IAS 39 and would be within theope ¢
NZ IAS 39 if it were a separate instrument.

means thegremium charged by thésurer at the inception of
contract under which the fingremium depends on conditio
prevailing over the contract period and so is reiednined atil
the expiry of that period.

means afnsurance contract that is not aeinsurance contract.

means the amount for which an asset could be exedary i
liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing pestin ar
arm’s length transaction.
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financial asset means any asset that is:
(@ cash;
(b) an equity instrument of another entity;
(c) acontractual right:

(i) to receive cash or anothdimancial assetfrom
another entity; or

(i) to exchangefinancial assetor financial liabilities
with another entity under conditions that
potentially favourable to the entity; or

(d) a contract that will or may be settled in the efgitgwn
equity instruments and is:

(i)  a non-derivative for which the entity is or mayg
obliged to receive a variable number of the erd
own equity instruments; or

(i)  a derivative that will or may be settled other tigy
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or ¢
financial assetfor a fixed number of the entity
own equity instuments. For this purpose
entity’s own equity instruments do not incl
instruments that are themselves contracts fo
future receipt or delivery of the entity’'s own egq
instruments.

financial instrument means any contract that gives rise fimancial asset of one ent
and a financial liability or equity instrument af@her entity.

financial liability is any liability that is:
(@) a contractual obligation:

(i)  to deliver cash or another financial asset to a
entity; or
(i) to exchange financial assets or financial liabil

with another entity under conditions that
potentially unfavourable to the entity; or

(b) a contract that will or may be settled in the efgitgwn
equity instruments and is:

()  a non-derivative for Wwich the entity is or may |
obliged to deliver a variable number of the ent
own equity instruments; or

(i)  a derivative that will or may be settled other tlgy
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or an
financial asset for a fixed number tbie entity’s ow
equity instruments. For this purpose the ent
own equity instruments do not include instrum
that are themselves contracts for the future réce
delivery of the entity’'s own equity instruments.
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financial risk

future claims

general insurance
contract

general insurer

means the riskfoa possible future change in one or more
specified interest rate, financial instrument pric@mmodit
price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices tegacredit ratin
or credit index or other variable, provided in ttese of a non-
financial variable that the variabie not specific to a party to t
contract.

means claims in respect ofsured eventsthat are expected
occur in future reporting periods under policies mhehe
attachment date is prior to the end of the repgnieriod

means aninsurance contract that is not alife insurance
contract.

means afinsurer that writesgeneralinsurancecontracts.

general reinsurancemeans areinsurance contract that is not alife reinsurance

contract

insurance asset

insurance
contract

insurance
liability

insurance risk

insured event

insurer

inwards
reinsurance

liability
adequacy test

life insurance
contract

© Copyright

contract.

means aninsurer’s net contractual rights under ansurance
contract.

means a contract under which one party (theirer) accept
significantinsurancerisk from another party (thpolicyholder)
by agreeing to compensate tholicyholder if a specifiet
uncertain future event (thiesured evenf) adversely affects tl
policyholder.

(Refer to AppendidB for additional guidance in applying t
definition.)

means aninsurer's net contractual obligations under
insurance contract.

means risk, other thdimancial risk, transferredrom the holde
of a contract to the issuer.

means an uncertain future event covered by irurance
contract and createmsurancerisk.

means the party that has an obligation underirsurance
contract to compensate a policyholder if ansured event
occurs.

meangeinsurance contracts written byreinsurers.

means an assessment of whether the carrying amduat
insurance liability needs to be increased (or the carrying an
of the related deferred acquisition costs or relaitgtangible
assets decreased) based on a review of future loagh f

means an insurance contract, or a financial instrument with
discretionary participation feature, issued byfaitisurer.
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life reinsurance means alife insurance contract issued by ondnsurer (the

contract reinsurer) to compensate anothesurer (thecedani for losse
on one or more contracts issued bydhdant

net claims means direct claims costs net of reinsurance dmet oecoverie

incurred and indirect claims handling costs, determined ogisaounte
basis.

outstanding means all unpaid claims and related claims handéirgense

claims liability relating to claims incurred prior to the end of teporting period.

policyholder means a party that has a right to compensation ruad
insurance contract if an insured event occurs.

premium means the amount charged in relation to acceptskgfrom the
insured, but does not include amounts collectetadalf of thirc
parties.

reinsurance means acedant’s net contractual rights under @inmsuranc

assets contract.

reinsurance means aninsurance contract issued by oneinsurer (the

contract reinsurer) to compensate anothsurer (thecedani for losse

on one or more contracts issued bydhdant

reinsurer means the party that has an obligation underiasurance
contract to compensate @edantif aninsured eventoccurs.

separate financial means those presented by a parent in which its timegds ar
statements accounted for on the basis of the direct equitgriggt rather th:
on the basis of the reported results and net ask#is investees.

unbundle means to account for the components of a contmaifttaey wer
separate contracts.

weather derivative means a contract that requires payméased on climati
geological or other physical variables.
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Appendix E
Amendments to other pronouncements

The amendments in this appendix shall be appliedrioual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2005. If an entity applies this IFRSdarearlier period, these amendments shall
be applied for that earlier period.

*kkkk

The amendments contained in this appendix whenRRS was issued in 2004 have been
incorporated into the relevant pronouncements pakelisin this volume.
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